Dissertationes Forestales 323

Spatial forest biomass supply chain analysis in Finland

Olli-Jussi Korpinen School of Forest Sciences Faculty of Science and Forestry University of Eastern Finland

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry of the University of Eastern Finland, for public criticism in the auditorium F100 in Futura building at the University of Eastern Finland, Joensuu, on 17th December 2021 at 12.00 noon.

Title of dissertation: Spatial forest biomass supply chain analysis in Finland

Author: Olli-Jussi Korpinen

Dissertationes Forestales 323

https://doi.org/10.14214/df.323 Use licence <u>CC-BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis supervisors: Professor Timo Tokola School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland, Joensuu, Finland

Professor Tapio Ranta Laboratory of Bioenergy, School of Energy Systems, Lappeenranta-Lahti University of Technology, Mikkeli, Finland

Pre-examiners: Professor Dag Fjeld Department of Forest Biomaterials and Technology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå, Sweden

Professor Margareta Björklund-Sänkiaho Laboratory of Energy Technology, Faculty of Science and Engineering, Åbo Akademi University, Vaasa, Finland

Opponent: Professor emeritus Bo Dahlin Department of Forest Sciences, University of Helsinki, Helsinki, Finland

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-736-3 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-737-0 (paperback)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry of the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science Viikinkaari 6, FI-00790 Helsinki, Finland http://www.dissertationesforestales.fi **Korpinen O-J** (2021) Spatial forest biomass supply chain analysis in Finland. Dissertationes Forestales 323. 54 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.323

ABSTRACT

The forest biomass supply represents an important part of the value chain for different woodbased products, and its environmental impacts are also frequently crucial. The performance of biomass supply chains (BSCs) can be assessed for various purposes and using a variety of methodological approaches, either including or excluding spatial properties. The purpose of this thesis was to investigate what kind of spatial data are required and available for casespecific BSC analyses in Finland, and what would be suitable levels of spatial precision for the various approaches. This thesis consists of five papers, one of which reviews case studies carried out in various geographical BSC environments around the world, while the remaining four are spatial case studies of BSC systems in Finland, three of them focusing on bioenergy production and one assessing the performance of a novel pulpwood transportation concept. A geographical information system (GIS) was used as the principal tool in one study, while in the other three the role of GIS was to produce spatially analysed data for life-cycle assessment and agent-based simulation. The main conclusion is that a spatial precision of between 1 km and 10 km, where each point of origin represents roughly an area of 1-100km², is sufficient for forest biomass data in Finnish BSC systems. The final precision should be determined collectively by the setup of the case study, factors leading to complexity in the supply chain system and the geographical extent of the area concerned. Relative to many other parts of the world, Finland has a readily available high quality source of spatial data for BSC research. It is recommended that GIS-based research could be improved by adding dynamic properties and stochasticity to the models, because temporal variations in feedstock supply and demand will probably increase in the future.

Keywords: transportation, optimization, geographical information systems, logistics, lifecycle assessment, simulation

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The main work for the papers making up this thesis was carried out in the Laboratory of Bioenergy at Lappeenranta-Lahti University of Technology (LUT). I particularly want to thank the head of the laboratory and the second supervisor of this thesis, Professor Tapio Ranta, for employing me initially and later familiarizing me with the jobs of project manager and researcher. In order to complete this academic work, I received a position for a limited period at the University of Eastern Finland (UEF) in my former home town of Joensuu, for which I wish to express my gratitude to its School of Forest Sciences for providing me with this opportunity, and to Professor Timo Tokola, the first supervisor of this thesis, for his invaluable assistance with the writing process. In addition to funds from the UEF, the completion of this thesis was partly supported by the UNITE Flagship Research Programme (decision number 337127). Thanks are due to the Academy of Finland for this support, and many thanks should also be extended to everyone who has contributed to the funding of our projects at LUT.

My warm thanks go to the pre-examiners of this thesis, professors Dag Fjeld and Margareta Björklund-Sänkiaho, for their thoughtful comments and the effort spent reviewing the manuscript.

It has been a privilege to work with wonderful people in the research group, and in addition to my supervisors, I wish to express special thanks to my co-authors Dr. Mika Aalto, Dr. Eero Jäppinen and Dr. Raghu KC. I would address my greatest appreciation to my former colleague, Eero, who successfully resourced us with new research tools and methods and created a strong basis for the work carried on by Mika and Raghu. Outside our small research group, I would thank the researchers in the same field at Luke, Metsäteho and VTT for their excellent collaboration in our joint projects.

The final acknowledgements I dedicate to all the people and communities who have been close to me in my present home town, including, but not limited to, the welcoming community at Mikkeli University Consortium, active co-volunteers in the sports club Anttolan Urheilijat and, of course, my loving family. With all the social contacts and activities, you have been a perfect counterweight to the concerns of my work. Virva, Elli and Veikko, thank you so much for your flexibility and patience during this journey.

Mikkeli, October 2021

Olli-Jussi Korpinen

LIST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS

This thesis is based on the original research papers listed below. The papers are reprinted with the permission of the publishers, and they are referred to in the text by the Roman numerals given here.

- I Korpinen O-J, Aalto M, KC R, Tokola T, Ranta T (2021) Utilization of spatial data in energy biomass supply chain research a review. Submitted manuscript.
- II Korpinen O-J, Jäppinen E, Ranta T (2013) A geographical-origin-destination model for calculating the cost of multimodal forest-fuel transportation. J Geogr Inf Sys 5: 96–108. https://doi.org/10.4236/jgis.2013.51010
- III Jäppinen E, Korpinen O-J, Ranta T (2013) GHG emissions of forest-biomass supply chains to commercial-scale liquid-biofuel production plants in Finland. GCB Bioenergy 6: 290-299. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12048
- IV Korpinen O-J, Aalto M, Venäläinen P, Ranta T (2019) Impacts of a high-capacity truck transportation system on the economy and traffic intensity of pulpwood supply in Southeast Finland. Croat J For Eng 40(1): 89-105. https://hrcak.srce.hr/217400
- V Aalto M, Korpinen O-J, Ranta T (2019) Feedstock availability and moisture content data processing for multi-year simulation of forest biomass supply in energy production. Silva Fenn 53(4): article id 10147. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.10147

Olli-Jussi Korpinen was the principal author in Papers I, II and IV, while Eero Jäppinen and Mika Aalto conducted the major part of the research in Papers III and V, respectively. Olli-Jussi Korpinen was responsible for collecting the spatial data and running the GIS analyses that produced the input data for LCA in Paper III and the simulation case studies in Paper V. The other co-authors helped with the conception and design of the respective papers and participated in writing and reviewing the manuscripts.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT ACKNOWI EDGEMENTS	3 4
I IST OF ORIGINAL PAPERS	1
ABBREVIATIONS	5 7
1 INTRODUCTION	<i>1</i>
1.1 Background	9
1.2 Forest fuel availability, supply chains and their stakeholders	. 10
1.3 Research into the development of biomass supply chains	.11
1.4 Spatial data in BSC studies	. 12
1.5 Data sources, system abstraction and spatial aggregation in Finnish biomass data	. 13
1.6 Outline of the thesis and objectives	. 16
2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	. 19
2.1 Research framework	. 19
2.2 Assessment of biomass supply chain studies (Paper I)	. 20
2.3 Static modelling of supply chains in GIS (Papers II and III)	. 22
2.3.1 Economic optimization on a GIS platform (Paper II)	22
2.3.2 GIS-assisted LCA for GHG emission assessment (Paper III)	. 22
2.4 GIS for dynamic modelling of supply chains (Papers IV and V)	. 24
2.4.1 GIS-assisted agent-based simulation (Paper IV)	. 24
2.4.2 GIS generating spatial and temporal uncertainty (Paper V)	. 27
3 RESULTS	. 30
3.1 The use of GIS in BSC case studies of bioenergy research (Paper I)	. 30
3.2 GIS for studying economic and environmental BSC impacts (Papers II and III)	. 32
3.3 GIS for BSC simulation (Papers IV and V)	. 34
4 DISCUSSION	. 37
4.1 Development of GIS and quality and availability of spatial data for supply chain	
analysis	. 37
4.2 System complexity in spatial BSC analysis	. 37
4.2.1 Setup of the study	38
4.2.1 Setup of the study	20
4.2.2 DOC systelli ucsigli	10
	. 40
4.3 The role and significance of GIS in bioenergy research	.41
4.4 Conclusions	. 43
REFERENCES	. 46

ABBREVIATIONS

ABS	Agent-based simulation			
BSC	Biomass supply chain			
СНМ	Canopy height model			
СНР	Combined heat and power			
DES	Discrete-event simulation			
FFC	Finnish Forest Centre			
GHG	Greenhouse gas			
GIS	Geographical information system			
НСТ	High-capacity transportation			
LCA	Life-cycle assessment			
LCP	Least-cost path			
LiDAR	Light detection and ranging			
MS-NFI	Multi-source national forest inventory			
МОО	Multi-objective optimization			
NFI	National forest inventory			
P2X	Power to X			

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Bioenergy production in Finland underwent a transition from traditional to modern (Kampman et al. 2010) primarily in the twentieth century, in response to industrialization and the resulting rise in society's energy demands. Until the Second World War the main source of bioenergy was firewood, although this was quickly replaced by fossil fuels such as oil and coal, and later peat and natural gas, in industry and other centralized heating systems (Kuitto 2005; Statistics Finland 2007). Under post-war conditions the forest industries grew in size, as did the volumes of process by-products such as wood chips, sawdust and black liquor (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021a). Wood fuels nowadays account for the largest proportion of final energy consumption in Finland (ca. 380 PJ in 2019, amounting to 28%), surpassing fossil fuels (288 PJ, 22%) (Statistics Finland 2021). Not all wood energy is used on a large scale, however, as small-scale firewood consumption accounts for about 60 PJ annually.

Relative to European countries with larger areas of cultivated land, the use of forms of biomass other than wood is marginal in Finnish energy plants (Eurostat 2015), so that only about 220 TJ of plant (non-wood) and animal-based biomass was used in Finnish combined heat and power (CHP) plants in 2019 (Finnish Energy 2020). Rather than direct combustion in power plants, agricultural biomasses such as grass, straw and manure are more commonly refined into gaseous fuel products (Winquist et al. 2019).

Forest fuels are a subcategory of wood fuels that includes biomass harvested and supplied from the forest for energy production directly, without processing in sawmills or pulp and paper mills (Alakangas 2015). Consequently, the feedstock is not available at industrial sites and the logistics framework includes supply chains that connect a variety of forest stands to an energy conversion facility. Forest fuels are more expensive at their destination than other wood chips (Ylitalo 2007), which are typically delivered by standard truck-trailers operating between wood processing sites and energy facilities. Forest-fuel supply chains include forwarding (i.e. off-road transportation), comminution (i.e. chipping or grinding), and road transportation. Even the road transportation takes place under more difficult driving conditions than conventional transportation. Because of the predominance of comminution, forest fuels are also known in Finland as forest chips. Firewood is not classified as a forest fuel fraction (Alakangas 2015).

On a national scale, the use of forest fuels has steadily increased, but the proportion of forest fuels among the energy sources has increased relatively rapidly in the last 20 years (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021b and 2021c). The most obvious driver has been the replacement of fossil fuels in heat and power production. Following the oil crisis of the 1970s, forest chips were used to increase the domestic content of energy sources, but as the price of oil fell, forest chips became uncompetitive again in many places (Hakkila 2005). Much stronger growth started in the late 1990s, when climate-based policies pushed heat and power plants into using renewable energy sources instead of fossil fuels. In addition to the numerous boiler investments in smaller heating plants, large heat and power plants underwent modifications that enabled the replacement of major fossil fuels such as coal, natural gas, and peat. The consequence was that a demand for forest fuels began to emerge in areas where the demand for wood fuels exceeded the supply of wood-processing by-products.

In 2000 the amount of forest fuels used was 5.8 PJ (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021c), with much of the use concentrated in the sawmills and paper mills of Central Finland (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021d; Ranta 2002). Also, forest fuels have gradually become a significant fuel fraction in the district heating systems of Finland's largest cities, their use having increased almost tenfold in the last two decades and become concentrated in the country's most densely populated regions. The two southern regions, Uusimaa (7.2 PJ) and Varsinais-Suomi (6.8 PJ), account for more than a quarter of the country's annual forest fuel use (54.4 PJ) (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021d), in spite of the fact that the proportions of forest land in these regions are among the lowest in Finland (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2020), posing obvious supply chain challenges. The Naantali power plant, for example, which uses more than 3.5 PJ of forest fuels annually, receives deliveries by truck from up to 150 kilometres away, and a significant proportion of the chips (up to 25%) is delivered by sea (Kjellberg 2020). In such a case, the power plant must have a large storage capacity and the truck transportation system must be able to adapt to significant changes in the plant's available storage space.

1.2 Forest fuel availability, supply chains and their stakeholders

Since forest fuels are principally delivered to the plant directly from forest stands, the supply logistics characteristics are more similar to roundwood procurement than to the supply chains for other fuel fractions. Forest fuels are primarily a by-product of forestry operations that are aimed at roundwood production, and as a result, their availability is heavily reliant on the market conditions prevailing in the forest industries. Harvest residues from regeneration fellings together with small-diameter wood extracted as whole trees or delimbed stems from younger stands are the main forest fuel fractions in Finland.

Forest fuel supplies differ from roundwood procurement principally in terms of their supply chain lifetimes, as roundwood should be fresh on arrival at its end-use location (Rikala et al. 2015) whereas forest chips should be dry (Röser et al. 2011). Forest fuels are intended to be dried at the stand immediately following felling and later in a roadside storage stack prior to delivery to the destination. The roadside chipping method, in which the fuel is chipped at the roadside stack and transported directly to the energy plant, is the most common arrangement nowadays, accounting for approximately 60% of all forest fuel by volume in Finland (Strandström 2020), while the second most common is the terminal chipping method (ca. 30%), in which fuel from various roadside stacks is collected and comminuted at a costeffective location between these points of origin and the destination. Comminution at the destination has become less common (ca. 10%), partly because not all power plants have stationary grinders and suitable vards for comminution, and also because uncomminuted material has a lower density and therefore a negative impact on transport economy over longer distances. The terminal chipping method nevertheless has the advantage of increased operational reliability (Virkkunen et al. 2015), in that large volumes of uncomminuted forest fuels can be stored at many terminal sites, allowing the fuel supplier to respond to a rapidly increasing demand for fuel, e.g. during the winter. In the last ten years, the proportion of terminal chipping in the supply of small-diameter wood has increased from 10% to 30% (Strandström 2020), expressing an increased interest in supply security within feedstock logistics. It has been observed that delimbed stemwood, in particular, retains its heating value even after extended storage (Aalto 2015), which is beneficial from the stockpiling point of view.

In business terms, supply chains are a network of customers, fuel-suppliers and contractors performing harvesting and transportation operations and comminution. At the energy plant, forest chips can be the primary fuel type or possibly only a minor component of a feedstock mix. Similarly, a single supplying organization may have multiple delivery destinations or customer enterprises. The supplier could be the wood procurement department of a forest company, for example, or simply a dealer focusing on the forest fuel trade. But regardless of the business model, it is critical that the supplying organization should compile information on its raw material resources (e.g. fuel volumes available for delivery), supply chain components (available vehicles, machines and workforce), and energy plant preferences (e.g. fuel quality criteria, supply contracts, orders and feedback).

Geographical information is important for the supplying organization at all levels of business planning. The locations and extents of supply areas, which are determined by the positions of the delivery destinations, terminals and transportation routes, are essential in strategic planning, while the list should be accompanied by the locations of roadside stacks in tactical planning and by the locations of machines and vehicles in operative planning. A geographical information system (GIS) is a vital tool for managing such vast amounts of data, since it can enable the performing of location-based mathematical calculations (at the strategic level), for example, or provide a map-based interface for heuristic supply chain management (at the operative level).

1.3 Research into the development of biomass supply chains

Research into biomass logistics has played a critical role in the development of the competitiveness of forest fuels (vis-à-vis other feedstock types) because harvesting, storage and transport costs account for approximately 80-90% of the value of a fuel at the plant gate (Laitila et al. 2010a; Laitila et al. 2017). Literature reviews (e.g. Wolfsmayr and Rauch 2014; Cambero and Sowlati 2014; Kogler and Rauch 2018) suggest that the published research contains numerous examples supporting all levels of business planning. The publications involved are frequently case studies that cannot be applied elsewhere due to geographical constraints (Kogler and Rauch 2018), whereas the methods, and possibly also the data sources, can be used in other operational environments.

Another important goal of research is to assess the environmental or sustainability impacts of biomass supplies. The environmental impacts are typically examined using a lifecycle assessment (LCA) method, which yields a numerical estimate of the impact that each functional unit (e.g. volume, mass or energy content unit) running through the system exerts on the environment (Schweinle et al. 2015). In supply chain systems the impact is typically measured in terms of greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. The system under consideration can be limited to supply chain stages that are economically more important (harvesting, comminution and transport) (de la Fuente et al. 2017), or it can be more comprehensive, including impacts on the carbon balance of the growing stock and the soil of the forest stand as well as the greenhouse gases emitted from biomass stocks during storage (Jäppinen et al. 2014). Some studies have limited the system in other ways while still covering a longer time frame in the analysis, including biomass production, supply and utilization. Werhahn-Mees et al. (2011), for instance, focused on only one of the main tree species yielding biomass for energy purposes in the Nordic countries, which simplified the production part of the model in particular, because different species require different management plans in the region. Their model was also non-spatial, as fixed transport distances were used instead of a GISbased analysis.

Despite the understanding that biomass supply chains (BSC) can frequently be studied using a spatial approach and with assistance from GIS (Zahraee et al. 2020), there is still room for non-spatial research. If, for example, the focus is solely on the arrangement of business processes and the information flows between stakeholders in the supply chain (Windisch et al. 2013), spatial data and methods are not needed. On the other hand, GIS is most beneficial when the system includes the mobilization of geographically scattered physical objects, such as biomass located in numerous fields or forests. In the context of forest biomass, this is especially the case in studies corresponding to the strategic level of real-world business planning, where biomass availability, supply costs and other procurement impacts, for example, are analysed on an annual basis. Nationwide analyses of the geospatial balance between supply and demand have also been published, based on large forest inventory databases and spatial information regarding heating and power plants (Nivala et al. 2016; Athanassiadis and Nordfjell 2017; Anttila et al. 2018). In the most basic GIS-based case studies the supply chain modelling consists of resource data for one type of feedstock and the calculation of transport distances for one type of vehicle, without any location-specific factors limiting the logistics (see Jäppinen et al. 2011). As business has grown and competition for feedstock has increased in the real world, so the research methods and the quality of the data have been refined. Today at least the following factors which are likely to have a significant impact on the results of the analysis are likely to be included whenever they are assumed to have spatial variation within the area concerned:

- Technical and ecological constraints on harvesting of the stands
- Competition between demand points and their varying abilities to pay for feedstock
- Willingness of different forest owners to sell biomass
- Fuel mixes and technical constraints at the plants
- Supply chain resources (machines, vehicles, workforce)
- Technical and environmental constraints affecting the supply chains (e.g. permitted locations for storage and comminution)

Furthermore, the numbers of fuel fractions and the varieties of rolling stock, comminution machines and storing methods have increased (Spinelli et al. 2020), as has the diversity of end products made manufactured from forest chips. Forest fuels can be refined to a standardized solid fuel product such as pellets, for example, or they can be used as a component of a liquid or gaseous fuel product (Yu et al. 2021). Additionally, since there are nowadays hundreds of energy plants using forest biomass in Finland (Nivala et al. 2016), there could be also opportunities to benefit from backhauling options and multi-way transportation models (Palander et al. 2004; Venäläinen and Poikela 2016).

1.4 Spatial data in BSC studies

When biomass resources are procured from various distant locations using alternative vehicles, it is advantageous to have GIS tools for planning purposes. In GIS-based modelling of transport systems, both raster data (also referred as "grid-based data") and vector data ("line-based data") can be used (Rodrigue 2020). Vector data are not necessary for modelling the transportation network in GIS, since transport distances, times and costs can also be

assessed using raster data and raster calculation tools, but it can be difficult to account for dense network areas if too small a scale (i.e. a coarse grid) is used. Also, the modelling of multilevel objects (e.g. highway interchanges) and the identification of one-way traffic zones will obviously be more straightforward in a vector-based system than in a set of raster layers. Raster data models are typically used in analyses of the static "cost-path" type (de Smith et al. 2018), while vector data are required for dynamic systems that call for complex connectivity and shared attributes between spatial objects. Sufficient road network data is available nowadays in vector format, even free of charge (e.g. OpenStreetMap data (OSM 2021)) that it is convenient to model a supply chain network as a line-based system. For this purpose, biomass resource data should be converted from area-based data (raster cells or vector polygons) to vector points, as transport routes and their properties are calculated between objects (i.e. lines or nodes) in a network. One common method is to extract the centroids of raster cells and their values, or vector polygons and their attributes, and to move the data to the closest object along the network. Sometimes, particularly if a feedstock supplier's data on roadside storage sites is used, the format of the biomass data may already consist of vector points and no conversion from a raster format or extraction of polygon centroids will be needed.

Accuracy in GIS indicates how well the object in the model matches the location or attributes of the corresponding object in the real world (Li 2017). In a spatial BSC case, data accuracy can be assessed, for example, by comparing the location of a line segment representing a road in the GIS context with the reckoned real-world location (e.g. based on some form of remote sensing method), or by comparing the attribute of a segment with the corresponding observation in the field (e.g. the pavement type of a road). There is usually some degree of inaccuracy, for example, between the data location of a static road network and the locations of roadside storage sites if these are stored in GIS by several operators in the supply system. Consequently, the storage points need to be moved to the nearest object in the transport network. GIS software may have built-in algorithms for finding the closest point or line in the network automatically (Esri 2021a).

Precision refers to the minimum geographical scale for a raster cell or vector object (Fisher et al. 2006). In a raster dataset this means that the cell value indicates a certain statistical value (e.g. a count, sum, mean, mode, median or standard deviation) for the physical quantity (e.g. tree volume). However, a cell cannot contain data for each individual object found in the area that it covers, so that individual objects and their properties can be presented more precisely in a vector layer. The challenge of generalization and reasonable precision for each dataset nevertheless still exists, and minimum size of an object should be decided upon when forest stands are to be represented by vector polygons in GIS.

1.5 Data sources, system abstraction and spatial aggregation in Finnish biomass data

Geographical information on forest resources in Finland has been collected systematically for a relatively long time. The first National Forest Inventory (NFI) started 100 years ago (Ilvessalo 1927), and the inventory has been repeated 12 times since then (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021e). Developments in data processing, computerization and, certainly, GIS have increased the possibilities for exploiting NFI data in various forest-related research projects and developing new calculation and estimation models and dataset exports from the NFI database. The multi-source National Forest Inventory (MS-NFI) database has been generated by combining field measurement-based NFI data with data from satellite images

and estimating given forest and forest-land attributes (44 thematic datasets) in a continuous raster layer covering the entire country (Mäkisara et al. 2019). The resolution of the raster grid is 16 m, and a new version has been published every second year. This data collection is most useful in supply chain studies at a strategic level, due to the greater estimation errors in smaller areas and the fact that the material dates back to about two years before the publication of the last dataset (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021f). In addition to georeferenced raster images, the same data are also available as municipality-level estimates in a table format that can be imported into GIS by combining the data with vector polygons representing the areas of the municipalities concerned (Mäkisara et al. 2019).

Another important provider of public forest data is the Finnish Forest Centre (FFC), which has the statutory task of enforcing the Forest Act (1093/1996) and maintaining an information system that contains data on forest properties and forest owners (Forest Data Act 419/2011). The system includes GIS data on forest resources in a raster format (16 m resolution, similar to the MS-NFI data) and as vector polygons representing either forest stands (principally in private forests) or intended cutting areas (Finnish Forest Centre 2021). Unlike NFI data, where the backbone is a systematic nationwide network of field plots (Mäkisara et al. 2019), FFC products are based on light detection and ranging (LiDAR) data and aerial images, which are interpreted and processed to final datasets with support from field assessments. The resulting polygons contain more than 100 attributes describing the growing stock, soil type and other characteristics of the forest stand concerned. LiDAR data are used to generate the growing stock raster cells ($16 \text{ m} \times 16 \text{ m}$) and to delineate the stands. A canopy height model (CHM) is also available as raster data with 1 m resolution for further data processing (e.g. single-tree maps). The datasets can vary in geographical coverage and age according to their regions and themes, so that the coverage of forest stand data is better in Southern Finland, for example, where the proportion of private forest ownership is higher than in the north. Cutting intent is the most up-to-date and uniform dataset, as it is based on the legal obligation to announce forthcoming commercial cuttings (Forest Act 1996), and it can also be considered the public dataset that corresponds most closely with the operationallevel forest data owned and controlled by various companies that are active in the forest and energy industries.

The road network is the most important transport network in biomass logistics in Finland, as most supply chains are totally based on truck transportation (Strandström 2021) and, quite obviously, transportation by road is included in all chains that start out from a roadside stack. Digiroad is a national GIS database containing vector data on all roads and streets in Finland and is available free of charge (Finnish Transport Infrastructure Agency 2021a). Its spatial precision is high and the geometry and attributes of the public roads and streets is checked and updated regularly. Attribute data concerning private forest roads (e.g. width, surface, obstacles, and turning points) are seldom provided at present, although improvements in this respect are currently under way (Venäläinen and Nousiainen 2021). As far as other transportation modes, vector lines of railways and fairways of maritime transport are also available as public data (Finnish Transport Infrastructure Agency 2021b).

Abstraction is an important part of the modelling of real-life objects and events. The higher the level of abstraction, the more the contents of the model are generalized. In GIS-based BSC research, abstraction can refer to both the spatial precision of the GIS data and the operations included in the supply chains. Based on the public data available in Finland, Figure 1 demonstrates the scale of spatial abstraction with datasets in which biomass and transportation are modelled as data objects at different levels of precision. The geographical extent of the system and the available computing capacity will principally determine how

low a level of abstraction can be applied in practice. Also, any increase in the alternative transport methods and node points in the supply chain network (i.e. plants and terminals) will increase the complexity of the model and limit the number of points representing biomass sources.

Single trees are included in Figure 1 as an example of the lowest level of abstraction, but because the number of trees grows rapidly as the area concerned expands, their use as potential starting points in BSC studies is mostly theoretical. Furthermore, the lowest level of abstraction presented here would obviously necessitate the inclusion of forwarding tracks in the transport network, and data of this kind are not publicly available. Instead, it is convenient to use roadside storage locations as the starting points for supply chains, or, if the locations are unknown, to choose a spatial precision that corresponds sufficiently well to the distribution of roadside storage sites in the real world. Of the public datasets including attribute data on growing stock properties, forest-stand polygons are probably the most suitable, because in Finnish forestry the individual cutting areas are commonly defined in accordance with the forest stand patterns. Nevertheless, roadside storage sites represent only a small proportion of all forest stands when a biomass supply is analysed in the short term, e.g. on an annual basis. In strategic-level research it might be more advantageous to use a static network of starting points (e.g. representing the centroids of a raster layer) with suitable geographical precision (e.g. where hundreds of forest stands are covered by a single raster cell). The most significant advantage of this method is that transportation routes would only need to be estimated once, provided that the other locations in the supply chain network (such as roads and biomass destinations), as well as the network itself, remain unchanged during the model's lifespan.



Figure 1. An overview of the abstraction possibilities in a GIS model that represents a forest BSC system based on road transport with alternative datasets available in Finland. The most common datasets used by transport operators in practice have a grey background. Biomass terminal A denotes a point where biomass can be collected and stored close to the origin. Biomass terminal B is a buffer terminal near the mill or plant or a point where biomass can be transshipped to another mode of transportation. The densities of real-world objects are based on information published by Finnish Forest Centre (2021) and Natural Resources Institute Finland (2020, 2021e).

Spatial aggregation (Esri 2021b) is required when the level of abstraction is raised so that the precision of the biomass data declines. The available forest datasets that may be used in supply chain analyses at different abstraction levels in Finland are summarized in Figure 2, which also explains how the data can be processed in GIS to enable a further transportation analysis to be performed starting out from the same points of origin. In addition to the aggregation performed during vector-to-raster conversions (and vice versa), data will be aggregated when a new, coarser raster is formed from a higher-resolution one (such as the FFC and MS-NFI grids with 16 m resolution), and sometimes even disaggregation (Spiekermann and Wegener 2000) may be appropriate if, for example, data from large vector polygons are transferred to a systematic grid with relatively high precision.

1.6 Outline of the thesis and objectives

This thesis is based on experience with spatial data collection from various sources over a number of years, with regard to multiple research and development projects concerned with biomass supplies. Research methods, data formats, quality requirements and levels of abstraction played important roles in the evaluation and dissemination of the results of these projects.

Although the most useful approach in principle would be to opt for the most precise and reliable material available, it is the case in practice that information systems include procedures for which a decrease in spatial precision is needed to speed up data management and processing. The researcher has therefore been obliged to assess the impacts of the selected level of data abstraction and the resulting spatial uncertainty on the final results of the research in each case separately. If the profitability of a planned biomass terminal is to be assessed, a higher spatial precision will obviously be required than in a study focusing on the entire supply area of a biomass plant, for example, or an even larger area. On the other hand, the spatial precision of biomass resource data does not necessarily play a very important role, if the main focus of a case study is on some other specific part of the supply chain, such as transportation between biomass terminals and plants, or selection between alternative comminution methods.

The main motivation was a need to identify the best sources of spatial BSC data and to increase our understanding of such matters as data quality (including spatial precision), coverage and the feasibility of different approaches. The idea was that, regardless of the biomass types, procurement methods or the global location of the area concerned, each geographical dataset has an optimal spatial precision, although this may depend on many factors, such as the aims of the research and the intended level of abstraction to be aimed at in the model.

Single tree level	Dataset name	Canopy height model
	Geometry	Raster (1 m × 1 m)
	Source	Finnish Forest Centre
一种 计管理 医紫癜	Attribute data	1 raster layer representing canopy height
	Spatial processing	Crown delineation to polygons and estimation
20 m –	methods	of treetop location inside polygon
	Processing result	Vector points representing single trees
	Adjacent object	Forwarding track (no public data available)
	in transport notwork	
The second se	In transport network	
And A Distance in the second		
Stand Javel	Detect name	LiDAD based and lavare
Stand level	Dataset name	LIDAR based grid layers
	Geometry	Vector polygons (16 m × 16 m squares)
	Source	Finnish Forest Centre
	Attribute data	27 attributes of growing stock
100		8 attributes of forest ground
100 m –	Spatial processing	Aggregation of grid data to
	methods	1) forest stand polygons
		2) a coarser grid
	Processing result	Vector points (polygon/cell centroids) representing possible harvest sites
	Adjacent object	Forest road
	in transport network	
	Dataset name	NFI grid layers
	Geometry	Raster (16 m × 16 m)
	Source	Natural Resources Institute Finland
	Attribute data	40 raster layers of growing stock
		4 raster lavers of forest ground
100 m –	Spatial processing	Aggregation of grid data to
	methods	1) forest stand polygons
		2) a coarser grid
	Processing result	Vector points (polygon/cell centroids) representing possible baryest sites
	Adjacent object	Forest road
	in transport network	- Sick fold
	in transport network	
	Dataset name	Forest resource natterns
	Geometry	Vector polygons
	Source	Finnish Earest Centre
	Attribute data	
	Attribute data	Z attributes of forest ground
100 m	Onetial assessing	7 attributes of lotest ground
	opatial processing	Polygon to point conversion
	methods	Optional (dis)aggregation to a grid
	Processing result	vector points (polygon or gria cell centrolas)
	Adjacent object	Forest road
	in transport network	
Forest estate level	Dataset name	Cadastral units
6 (Geometry	Vector polygons
	Source	National Land Survey of Finland
	Attribute data	N/A*
K 3/90 5)	Spatial processing	Aggregation of data from external datasets (e.g. FFC or MS-NFI data)
1 km -	methods	Optional (dis)aggregation to a grid
	Processing result	Vector points (polygon centroids) representing forest estates
VP A AN	Adjacent object	Public road
	in transport network	
	*) Access to land ownersh	ip data is limited by the Personal Data Act, and only the property ID is included as attribute data.
	This level of abstraction	is rarely used in supply-chain oriented studies in Finland.
Municipality level	Dataset names	Municipalities, Forest resources by municipalities
	Geometry	Vector polygons
	Sources	Statistics Finland (geometry), Natural Resources Institute Finland (attribute data)
	Attribute data	4 forest ground tables, 24 growing stock table
		and forest ground and growing stock table
100 km –	Spatial processing	Combining of datasets by municipality ID (IDs in polycons and spreadsheet tables)
	methods	Optional (dis)aggregation to a grid
	Processing result	Vector points (polygon/cell centroids) representing forests within municipalities
	Adjacent object	Public road
	Aujacent object	r unic roau
The states (2) and the	in nansport network	

Figure 2. Map examples and information on Finnish datasets that can be used in GIS to model forest biomass origins. Required or optional processing methods for linking biomass data with the transport network layer in a BSC system analysis are also presented.

The main purpose of this thesis was to assess the applicability of different levels of spatial abstraction in case-specific BSC system studies that represent different objectives and methods. The focus was on supply chain systems providing feedstock to conventional Finnish CHP plants, a conventional Finnish pulp mill and a possible industrial-scale biomass-to-liquid refinery using forest fuels as its main input. Another aim was to review similar BSC studies performed in other regions of the world, as international references for the materials and methods applied in Finland. The questions that this thesis set out to answer were the following:

- 1) What kind of spatial data is needed when BSC systems are studied case-specifically from different perspectives?
 - How are the most economic solutions for supply chains in a GIS model to be found when different feedstock types, vehicle types and transport networks are included in the system?
 - How are the GHG emissions arising from the biomass supply to be assessed with the aid of GIS? What are the impacts of plant locations on the total GHG emitted from a supply chain system?
- 2) What is the appropriate precision for spatial forest biomass data in order to represent the biomass origins of real-world cases of biomass supply and logistics in Finland,
 - when parallel transport systems are studied with a simulation approach?
 - when randomness is added to the determination of points of origin and dynamic changes in the attributes of these are accounted for in the GIS data?
- 3) How do the data specifications compare with similar BSC case studies in bioenergy research worldwide?
 - How much spatial data and of what kind have BSC case studies used in recent decades?
 - How do the research objectives and methods, and the geographical region affect the selection and processing of spatial data?

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Research framework

This thesis covers the framework of BSCs and the use of spatial data and methods in related research (Figure 3). First, a review will be presented of the global situation and recent methodological developments in this field of research, covering a wide range of biomass logistics and end-product types (Paper I). The scope will then be narrowed to forest biomass as feedstock and Finland as the geographical region in focus. The research will include static supply chain analyses (Papers II and III) and dynamic supply chain models (Papers IV and V). In this context a model refers to a representation of a real-world system in a computer environment, while dynamic and static, respectively, stand for the inclusion and exclusion of time-based variables in the model. These variables may be of minor importance in strategic management, but they are already essential in situations that involve the tactical planning of BSCs (Palander 1995).

This work represents a combination of a literature review, theoretical methodological development and experimental case studies, where the latter included varying logistical setups for BSCs covering different geographical regions in Finland (Table 1). The biomass datasets, which were collected from different sources and processed using different aggregation methods, were deployed in a systematic grid of vector points in all the cases. The spatial resolution of the grid was 2, 4 or 5 km and the supply areas ranged between 200 km² and 85 900 km².



Figure 3. The framework for the research.

Paper	Demand point / area studied	Grid resolution	Supply points	Supply area, km² (ca.)
	Jyväskylä	2 km	9 414 – 20 626	39 500 - 85 900
II	Haapajärvi	2 km	53 – 659	200 – 2 900
III	PRV (Porvoo)	4 km	310 – 1 478	5 400 – 24 900
III	RMA (Rauma)	4 km	333 – 1 831	5 900 - 32 000
III	AJO (Ajos, Kemi)	4 km	592 – 3 755	11 700 – 73 000
111	PIE (Pieksämäki)	4 km	103 – 416	1 700 – 6 800
111	PKO (Parkano)	4 km	150 – 655	2 500 – 10 800
111	KON (Kontiomäki)	4 km	234 – 987	4 000 – 17 400
111	KJÄ (Kemijärvi)	4 km	431 – 1 717	9 200 - 39 700
IV	Southeast Finland (7 points)	5 km	532	11 800
V	Southern Finland (1 point)	2 km	3883	17 500

Table 1. Geographical properties of the supply areas included in the GIS models in Papers

 II-V.

2.2 Assessment of biomass supply chain studies (Paper I)

The material for the literature review was collected from scientific peer-reviewed papers that included a case study concerned with biomass supplies. The collection method was an automated bibliographic analysis based on an earlier study in the same field that had a different objective but had carried out a search for a similar set of publications as a starting point (Aalto et al. 2019). As the purpose of this review was to extract case studies with a certain content, the papers were accepted or dismissed on a manual basis (i.e. by reading them) applying the following screening protocol. An answer "no" to any of the questions below would lead to elimination of the paper from the review:

- 1) Does the article include a case study where
 - a) biomass is considered as a source of energy, and
 - b) biomass is procured from several geographical locations and transported to one or many end-use or intermediate storage locations?
- 2) Does the case study focus on an area smaller than or equal to 10 000 000 km²?
- 3) Is biomass transportation by road, rail, waterway or pipelines from the origin to the destination or intermediate location mentioned in the case study?

The following stage was to assess the properties of the spatial data and GIS-based analysis methods by comparing them with the objectives and methods of the present work and with the features of supply chain systems that the case studies represent. The review also focused on how GIS methods and data have developed in time and to what extent studies from different parts of the world apply them in different ways. This stage involved classifying the studies into 16 thematic categories (Table 2) and then examining correlations that were of interest in a cross-classification analysis of these categories, principally highlighting their spatial properties.

Table 2. Classification of the case studies reviewed in Paper I.

Group 1: General information

a) Year of publication

- b) Region
- c) Target country

Group 2: Biomass origins and destinations

- a) Biomass origin
 Forests and tree plantations
 Farms and fields
 (Other sources)
- b) End product Heat and/or electricity
 - Gaseous fuels Liquid fuels
 - Solid fuels (Other products)

Group 3: Methodology

- a) Method Regression analysis Optimization
 - Life-cycle analysis Discrete time simulation (Other approach)

b) Objective

Economic performance Energy balance and emissions Social impacts (Other impacts)

Group 4: Spatial framework

a) Area 1 – 100 km² 101 – 1 000 km² 1 001 – 10 000 km² 10 001 – 100 000 km² 100 001 – 1 000 000 km² 1 000 001 – 10 000 000 km² b) GIS data format Raster Vector (Other) c) Transport network data source Authority or enterprise OpenStreetMap (Other sources)

Group 5: Supply system complexity

a) Points of origin 1 – 100 101 - 1 000 1 001 - 10 000 10 001 b) Destinations 1 2 - 1011 - 100101 c) Multi-stage network (Yes/No) d) Multi-modal network (Yes/No) e) Biomass property changes (Yes/No) f) Transport cost basis Distance Time (Other)

2.3 Static modelling of supply chains in GIS (Papers II and III)

2.3.1 Economic optimization on a GIS platform (Paper II)

A GIS-based calculation model for analysing the economy of supply chains may include additional transport modes such as rail or water transportation. Paper II consists of two parts: 1) description of the design of the model, its analysis methods and data sources, and 2) a case study demonstrating selection of the economically optimal transport solution for each individual pair of origins (representing roadside storage points) and destinations (representing a power plant).

The design of the model was based on several spatial datasets representing the biomass supply at harvesting stands, transportation network and locations where distance-independent costs, such as biomass comminution or transhipment, were added to the supply chain. For the supply of two forest-fuel types (logging residues and stumps), the theoretical potential was extrapolated from the harvest statistics and NFI-based estimates at the municipality level to a fixed spatial grid with a cell size of $2 \text{ km} \times 2 \text{ km}$. The volume was thereafter limited to a techno-economic harvest potential with universal conversion factors. For one fuel type (small-diameter energy wood) the data was already provided in the form of the techno-economic harvest potential. Land use data were used as a weighing factor so that the cells including high forest coverage were allocated higher supply volumes than those with low forest coverage. The cell centroids were used as the starting points for transportation and the routes between all possible origin-destination pairs were calculated during the construction of the model. The closest line segment representing a trafficable road was linked to the centroid automatically by the software, so that manual offsetting of the centroids was not compulsory.

The model accounted for the given local or universal limitations applying to the theoretical potential and calculated the accumulation of available biomass as a function of transport distances around the power plant or transhipment points. Another output of the model was the optimal transport mode from each point of origin, calculated separately for each biomass type. This was determined by the spatial point barrier method as provided by the GIS software extension (Network Analyst of ArcGIS Professional), so that the entire analysis could be run within the GIS environment. The procedure for finding the most economic route is presented in Figure 4.

The performance of the model was tested in a case study in Central Finland in which a combination of truck and train transportation represented the multimodal option. The supply potentials were deducted from the techno-economic harvest potential by an amount corresponding to the assumed market share of the power plant. The grade of reduction varied spatially, as it was assumed that there is less competition for the feedstock further away from the power plant.



Figure 4. Determination of the most economic routes in the supply chain model of Paper II. (Figure originally published by Korpinen et al. (2013), J Geogr Inf Sys 5: 96-108. DOI: 10.4236/jgis.2013.51010. Licence CC-BY 4.0)

2.3.2 GIS-assisted LCA for GHG emission assessment (Paper III)

In addition to the economic impacts, it is also important to assess greenhouse gas emission impacts of the supply chain when deciding between alternative locations for a new biofuel refinery. The framework of Paper III included two models, a GIS model and an LCA model, where the function of the former was to produce all the necessary spatial input data for the latter.

The estimated annual feedstock demand for liquid biofuel production was significant, ca. 1 million m_{solid}^3 of forest biomass for producing the planned volume, 250 000 t of biodiesel. The scale of the plant was such that a resolution of 4 km × 4 km was applied for the grid representing the biomass sources and instead of cost-based determination of the optimal transport modes, alternative ways of delivery were studied by means of four scenarios including fixed transport mode proportions (0%, 33%, 50% or 67% of feedstock delivered by a truck system and the remaining proportion by a railway system).

As the system boundaries (Figure 5) included all the supply chain operations between roadside storage and the plant yard, biomass comminution emissions were also analysed. Given that roadside chipping was included as a comminution method for the harvest residues and small-diameter energy wood, the movement of the chipper truck was modelled by the Travelling Salesman Problem solver included in the GIS software extension (ArcGIS Network Analyst).



Figure 5. Supply chains and system boundaries in Paper III. (Figure originally published by Jäppinen et al. (2013), GCB Bioenergy 6: 290-299. DOI: 10.1111/gcbb.12048. Licence CC-BY 4.0)

2.4 GIS for dynamic modelling of supply chains (Papers IV and V)

2.4.1 GIS-assisted agent-based simulation (Paper IV)

Dynamic simulation is a viable method for studying logistics in detail when the timing of deliveries, scheduling and alternative "what-if" scenarios are important factors (Saad 2003). Simulation can also be beneficial when it is too expensive, or even impossible, to experiment with a new system in real life. The logistic setup in Paper IV included a task of delivering feedstock to several pulp mills in South-eastern Finland, which was assigned to a combination of a conventional truck transportation system and a system based on high-capacity transportation (HCT). Individual trials with HCT trucks exceeding the maximum gross weight of 76 metric tons (payload ca. 52 t) were underway in Finland at the time when this research was conducted, and these produced some experimental data concerning the activities and impacts of such trucks (e.g. fuel consumption), thereby supporting the profitability calculations for truck investments. The need for a comprehensive analysis of the impacts of HCT in a broader context nevertheless called for a holistic simulation of a larger transportation system.

An agent-based simulation (ABS) model was designed to meet the demand for such a holistic system approach. The model is a spatio-temporal one, meaning that it accounts for the geographical properties of the system and time-dependent factors, such as the sufficiency of the transport fleet (i.e. HCT and regular trucks), seasonal variations in the supply at the

biomass origins, and feedstock inventory levels at the transhipment terminals (i.e. HCT terminals) and mill yards.

The decision-making process used in the model, as summarized in Figure 6, is based on four agent types, each containing a given population of units capable of interacting with other agent types. By contrast with discrete-event simulation (DES), a popular approach in the modelling of logistics, the product of interest (i.e. roundwood) was not modelled as an entity flowing through a process chart but was "moved" towards the destination as information defined for the agents and as interaction between the agents.

The role of GIS was to feed the ABM with source datasets that were indicated by "tables" in the operation principles for the supply and demand points (Figure 6). In addition to the spatial distribution of three pulpwood types according to species, the spatial source data contained two route matrices: one for regular trucks and the other for HCT trucks. This was based on the assumption that the dimensions and structure of the HCT trucks concerned are not suitable for most forest roads. Unlike the static GIS analyses, the routing was not definitively based on the shortest distance or the lowest cost of delivery, but rather the simulation procedure was to go through a table of destinations (ranked in order of supply costs) and send the truck to the first destination accepting feedstock at that time.

The locations of demand points were based on the existing pulp mills, since at the time of the research there were no specific HCT terminals other than the mill yards in the area concerned. The placement of terminals was therefore based on a visual inspection of the map displaying the traffic intensity of regular trucks. The pulpwood harvest potential was extrapolated from municipality-level estimates, and a MS-NFI raster dataset (presented in Figure 2) was used for weighting the harvest potential of the grid cells within each municipality. The dataset contained pulpwood volume estimates for each of the tree species in cells of size $16 \text{ m} \times 16 \text{ m}$.



Figure 6. Decision-making process in the multi-modal supply chain model designed with an agent-based simulation approach in Paper IV. * indicates randomness relative to an event and a stopwatch represents possible time delays. (Figure originally published by Korpinen et al. (2019), Croat J For Eng 40(1): 89-105. Licence CC-BY 4.0)

The ABM included three levels of system abstraction, the lowest level being used for representing truck transport operations and the highest level for pulpwood deliveries by rail or waterways. The purpose of the latter deliveries was to affect the demand at the mill and temporarily reserve the mill yard unloading capacity (Figure 6). Between these levels, regular truck transportation to and from the surrounding area (i.e. the rest of Finland and Russian Federation) was taken into account by generating supply and demand at the borders of the area considered here.

Since the system had not been demonstrated in practice, many parameters affecting its performance had to be estimated by means of a sensitivity analysis that included the number of HCT terminals in the network (0, 7 or 14) and the expected unit costs resulting from the use of a particular terminal (similar to the barriers of the loading points in Paper II). One critical question was how many trucks were needed to keep the system in balance. The case study had a total of 64 scenarios to be simulated, with varying numbers of regular and HCT trucks (Figure 7). Seven out of these were reference scenarios with an unlimited number of vehicles, setting the level of eligible system balance. Moreover, all the scenarios were replicated eight times to show the impact of the stochastic variables in the system (e.g. the arrival times of trains and vessels at the pulp mills). Scenarios that were incapable of delivering enough feedstock to the mills due to an excessively short transport capacity were disqualified from the final evaluation.

After the resolution of the supply point grid had been adjusted to $5 \text{ km} \times 5 \text{ km}$, yielding 532 origins of biomass, 491 in the grid and 41 border transit points, test runs were performed with the ABM. As the feedstock demand was represented by seven pulp mills, the feedstock supply by 491 points, while the 14 HCT terminals and 41 transit points represented both supply and demand, the set of supply cost tables theoretically included 75 991 different transport routes (directly to the destination or via a terminal). In practice, however, the demand at the transit points was excluded, as it is known that pulpwood is not actually transported out of the region, so that the number of individual transport routes in the simulation was reduced to 55 860.

2.4.2 GIS generating spatial and temporal uncertainty (Paper V)

Substantial variation in biomass supply and demand can be observed between years in Finland, especially in the case of heat production, principally due to long-term natural anomalies in weather conditions. Since it has been assumed that a simulation model will become more realistic when uncertainties related to operational resources (e.g. machines and vehicles) and feedstock sufficiency at different times can be taken into account, the purpose of Paper V was to develop a method for acquiring and processing biomass source data so that a supply chain system can be simulated over a multi-year period together with the uncertainty factors that may affect the performance of the system. The paper focuses on the stochastic variation, and the process of drying the harvested biomass at the roadside (temporal variation). Further operations in the supply chain following roadside storage were excluded from consideration, as they were meant to be included in the simulation model.



Fields with an unbroken outline indicate scenarios included in the qualification

Fields with a dashed outline indicate reference scenarios of an unlir H = number of HCT trucks

R = number of regular trucks

Figure 7. The configuration of simulation scenarios in Paper IV (white fields). Total transport capacity indicates the approximate sum of the payloads of the trucks in the scenario. (Figure originally published by Korpinen et al. (2019), Croat J For Eng 40(1): 89-105. Licence CC-BY 4.0)

The paper also presents a case study of a forest biomass supply area at a maximum distance of 120 km by road from the central demand point in the area and representing a total feedstock supply of 78 500 m³/a on average. The spatial biomass source grid was adjusted to 2 km \times 2 km and the original biomass availability data was imported into the grid from the national Biomass Atlas data service (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021g). The allocation of the availability estimates from the original dataset to the grid followed the same principle as in Papers II-IV. To fulfil the need for a realistic number of points of origin in the area, it was determined that for a simulation run of one calendar year only ca. 5.15 % of the points (i.e. 200 per 3883 points) should be randomly selected to represent the year's biomass supply. Simultaneously, the available feedstock volume was multiplied by 19.415 (i.e. 3883 per 200), in order to create supply point datasets for supply chain simulations representing consecutive years, so that the yearly total volumes of available feedstock, transport distances and, thus costs, would deviate from the average estimates.

We then examined the possibilities for generating random variation in the monthly harvesting volumes, which were based on the national statistics for forestry operations. For this purpose the supply points were assigned proportional values for each month (totalling 100%), indicating the probability of the stand (or stands) in the grid cell being harvested in the respective month. After the month was determined the simulation model was to select the final time of harvesting within the month using a uniform random distribution. In addition, the probability distributions can be weighted at the supply point level by means of location-specific factors such as stand accessibility at different seasons (Finnish Forest Centre 2021). The weights should be finally adjusted, however, so that the monthly averages for the total population of points correspond to the statistical distribution of harvesting months (Figure 8).





While the above-mentioned method expressed the temporal distribution of the harvesting time, another important data processing stage for the simulation of a supply chain is the determination of the optimal storing time before transportation to the plant. The second part of the study focused on this time and the associated weather-dependent decision procedure by comparing different moisture estimation models. This analysis was also spatially referenced, as the models were tested using experimental weather data from a known location. Despite the fact that historical weather data are nowadays also available in spatial grid form, i.e. spatially interpolated data from weather station observations (Finnish Meteorological Institute 2021), the models were not analysed at the grid point level. Furthermore, moisture estimation is not considered here, as it lies outside the scope of this thesis.

3 RESULTS

3.1 The use of GIS in BSC case studies of bioenergy research (Paper I)

The bibliometric analysis yielded 180 publications, 94 of which qualified for further review. North America and Europe are the main regions where spatial BSC case studies have been published, and the number of published studies has increased steadily from year to year, 2020 being the record year, with 21 papers in the review (Figure 9). At the same time the proportion of large areas studied (more than 100 000 km²) has increased.

While North America and Europe are the main regions where supply chains have been studied, the end-products of biomass conversion differ significantly (Figure 10). In Europe the case studies have focused principally on heat and power generation, while in North America the supply chains have provided feedstock for liquid biofuel plants. From the spatial abstraction point of view, many US-based case studies have used county-level data on biomass resources and thus county centroids as points of origin. On the other hand, the US-based studies often had several optional destinations in the supply chain network, in some cases represented by the same county centroids as the origins. The areas concerned were also larger than in Europe on average, and the systems usually included intermediate terminals, making them more complex in terms of routing. Economic optimization of the system was the most common research method worldwide, and it was this that was used in all the most complex supply chain analyses (i.e. those with large numbers of origins and destinations).

There was great variation in both the sizes of areas studied and the spatial precision of biomass data. In general, similar approaches were applied in quite diverse geographical environments with different types of spatial datasets. The number of points of origin, for example, ranged from three points to over eight billion, with the three points representing the centroids of extensive macroalgae harvesting areas in the ocean and the case with the most points being a raster data-based least-cost path (LCP) analysis of the profitability of forest biomass supplies. The resolution of the raster in the LCP analysis was 10 m and off-road skidding tracks were included in the supply chain network. Hence this was the most spatially precise case study regarding forest biomass supplies among all the papers reviewed here. Raster data were also used in other studies where the number of individual biomass origins was high. In general, a vector was the most commonly used data format, found in ca. 61% of the papers, although unfortunately, as many as ca. 27% of the studies did not report the GIS data format at all.



■ Africa ■ Asia ■ Australia ■ Europe III South America III North America III North America & Europe

Figure 9. Case studies reviewed in Paper I, classified by year of publication and region of the world.



Figure 10. Case studies reviewed in Paper I, classified by the region of the world and the end product of biomass conversion.

3.2 GIS for studying economic and environmental BSC impacts (Papers II and III)

Although the objectives and analytical methods of Papers II and III were different, they used very similar methods for modelling the biomass supply at the origins. The results of the case study in Paper II showed how competitive a truck transportation chain from roadside storage directly to the plant can be relative to other transport modes. Out of the scenarios constructed for three annual volumes of total feedstock demand, the rail transport chain was the most economic option only for a marginal proportion of the routes from forests to a power plant. This can be seen from the map in Figure 11, which shows that a demand of 2500 TJ a⁻¹ or less is not high enough for considering transportation by vehicles other than truck trailers. Furthermore, an even higher demand results in direct truck transportation from origins very close to the selected railway loading point.



Figure 11. Forest fuel supply areas in the scenarios of Paper II. Black square: a demand point representing two closely located power plants, Black triangle: railway loading point. (Figure originally published by Korpinen et al. (2013), J Geogr Inf Sys 5: 96-108. DOI: 10.4236/jgis.2013.51010. Licence CC-BY 4.0)

The case study also revealed a problem related to the static modelling approach in such a spatio-economic optimization, because the unit costs applied for the point barrier at the railway loading point assumed a higher utilization rate for the biomass comminution machine than was achieved in any of the three scenarios. A scenario using a fixed volume for routing through the loading point (equalling 360 TJ a^{-1}) was therefore added to enable a sensitivity analysis, but the result of this scenario indicated that the additional cost of moving the required volume of biomass by rail was marginal.

From the GIS modelling point of view, the paper discussed the spatial abstraction challenges posed by the two supply areas (i.e. surroundings of the power plant and railway loading point), which differed considerably in extent, the supply area surrounding the power plant being large in this geographical system while the area around the railway loading point was very small. In one scenario the average transport distance from a supply point to the loading point was 8 km and the number of supply points modelled was only 53, resulting in a supply area of ca. 200 km². This is only ca. 0.2% of the largest possible supply area in the study concerned, ca. 85 900 km² (Table 1).

A similar conflict between supply areas around the plants and railway loading points existed in Paper III, but with less contrast in terms of size. The smallest supply area included 103 supply points and covered ca. 1 700 km², which is ca. 2.3% of the largest supply area in the study (Table 1). On the other hand, the spatial abstraction level for biomass supplies in Paper III was higher, due to the sparser supply point network. In theory, a grid cell in Paper III represented four times the number of real-world roadside sites relative to a cell in Paper II. The use of a sparser resolution in Paper III was not critical, however, because the objective was to calculate the accumulation of emissions from pre-selected supply-system settings and not to optimize spatial break-even points as was the case in Paper II.

The case studies focusing on three biomass plant locations (PRV, RMA and AJO) in Paper III indicated that the most important decisions in terms of GHG emissions are 1) prioritizing railway-based supply chains, 2) using electric trains for railway transportation and 3) building the plant in one or other of the southern locations, PRV or RMA. The differences between north (AJO) and south (PRV and RMA) were significant with regard to emissions from truck transportation, especially when no railway route was used at all. The location-based differences in biomass comminution, on the other hand, were marginal, as the average GHG emission was slightly less than 1.0 gCO₂eq MJ⁻¹ in all the scenarios. Nevertheless, comminution represented ca. 25 - 60% of the total supply chain emissions, which, alongside the comminution process, also indicates the significance of accounting for the travelling of roadside chippers in one way or another. In this case it took ca. 95 hours (on a standard laptop computer) to solve the optimal route visiting all 3 755 supply points in the largest supply area (AJO) included in the GIS model.

3.3 GIS for BSC simulation (Papers IV and V)

Since the purpose of a dynamic simulation modelling approach is to imitate processes as they occur in real life (or as they are believed to occur in the future), validation of the model is an important part of the research prior to analysis of the output from the model. This was done first in Paper IV, by following up the traffic flows on the map-based display of the simulation software (AnyLogic 2021). It was then possible to check that the points of origin were supplying wood as they were intended to do and that the pulp mills' storage levels were fluctuating in a reasonable manner. As far as the balance in the transport system was concerned, the scenario criterion in the case study guaranteed that the model was run with a suitable combination of HCT and regular trucks, at least in certain scenarios.

The scenario criterion dropped 19 scenarios out because their simulations ended in an excessive feedstock shortage at the mills. In the remaining scenarios it was found that a total transport capacity of 6500 t was enough to supply the necessary pulpwood volumes in time. With the highest capacity used in the comparison (i.e. 7 800 t), the task was also accomplished successfully, but without any significant improvement in supply costs. The main finding of the case study was that the use of an HCT system could reduce total transport distances significantly with just 10 HCT trucks involved (Figure 12). The savings in supply costs were proportionally smaller, but they would also have become evident with a small number of HCT trucks in the system.



Figure 12. Transport distances, including empty returns (left) and transport costs (right), according to transport modes, and their cost bases in scenarios having a total transport capacity of ca. 6500 t and 0 or 14 HCT terminals. Error bars represent the range of total distances (left) or costs (right) in 8 simulation runs. (Figure originally published by Korpinen et al. (2019), Croat J For Eng 40(1): 89-105. Licence CC-BY 4.0)

Based on an examination of the resulting data and a map-based follow-up of the simulation run, it was discovered that transhipment at HCT terminals resulted in two-way transportation of the same wood stacks in the surroundings of the terminals on certain occasions. Depending on the locations of the origin and demand points and the terminals in each routing task, there were two alternative explanations for this behaviour: a) routing via terminals was still found to be the most profitable solution despite this transportation back and forth, or b) limited receiving capacity at the pulp mills forced the model to steer deliveries to HCT terminals, at times, although still prioritizing the most profitable options available.

The generation of temporal variations in the statistical biomass data and a means of accounting for uncertainty in certain system events brought the simulation model in Paper V closer to real-world experiences of biomass supplies for energy production purposes. The data processing method succeeded in this task in three senses. Given a random selection of 200 points of origin out of the population of 3883 points (Table 1), the simulation model produced 30 output datasets (representing 30 separate simulation years), where the maximum deviation from the statistical average transport distance was ca. 4.4% (Figure 13). This result indicated mostly the variation in transport economy between years, as distance is the main factor determining transport costs. The next quantity to be analysed was the total volume of harvested biomass in the 30 repetitions of the simulation, which, by contrast, is a good indicator of feedstock sufficiency and the need for buffer storage in the system. The model resulted in a deviation of 22% at most from the statistical average (i.e. the volume of the total stand population divided by a coefficient of $3883 * 200^{-1}$). As the third indicator, the number of stands generated in each month of the year, can be used to forecast the need for work resources in the system throughout the year, for example, the combination of cell-specific and supply area-specific probability values for harvesting (example presented in Figure 8) appeared to result in the desired variation as well.



Figure 13. Annual average transport distances from supply points to a destination point (a), deviations from the statistical average for annual biomass supplies in the area studied (b), and monthly variations in the numbers of harvest stands created by the model (c) in 30 repetitions of the simulation run in Paper V. Black lines (a, c) represent the statistical averages of the total supply point population in the model. (Figure contents originally published by Aalto et al. (2019), Silva Fenn 53(4): article id 10147. DOI: 10.14214/sf.10147. Licence CC-BY-SA 4.0)

4 DISCUSSION

4.1 Development of GIS and quality and availability of spatial data for supply chain analysis

Bodies of spatial data concerning biomass resources and transportation networks form the cornerstones of successful GIS-based research into BSC systems, but the quality and availability of suitable datasets vary globally. Despite the fact that global coverage in terms of spatial transport network data (e.g. OpenStreetMap) and access to satellite images that can be used for various land cover assessments (e.g. Landsat or Sentinel) are nowadays achievable free of charge (USGS 2021), they are seldom used as the primary data sources in case-specific research. The publications reviewed in Paper I indicate how versatile the need for spatial data can be in different systems where the final form of biomass use is energy generation. The results of Paper I also indicate that GIS has gained ground in research during the last decade, as the number of GIS-based supply chain studies has increased steadily. Simultaneously, GIS applications have developed from individual computer programs towards multi-platform software, and the potential for storing and sharing geospatial data online has been realized.

In general, more biomass studies utilizing spatial data seem to be published in regions where data are already available in abundance. The governments of Canada and the US, for example, provide access to numerous datasets of high resolution (Thompson 2021; Esri 2021c) which can be of benefit to many research fields, including GIS-based research into supply chains. The situation is somewhat similar in the European Union, although the member states vary greatly in their data sharing policies and practices (Minghini et al. 2021). In Finland the public authorities today provide a good coverage and easy access for forest biomass, land survey and transport network data (as discussed above in section 1.5.2), but this positive state of affairs is relatively new. The contents of the national road and street database Digiroad were released for public distribution in 2013, for example, and MS-NFI data became available in 2012 (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021f), real estate boundaries of the cadastral index in 2017 (National Land Survey of Finland 2017) and FFC data as late as in 2018 (Valonen et al. 2019). Of these data sources, only Digiroad was used in Papers II and III (published in 2013), as it was available for research purposes prior to its general release. An important political decision paving the way towards the current situation in Finland was the government resolution for improving the accessibility of public information resources in digital format (Ministry of Transport and Communications 2011). Today such authorities as the Finnish Environment Institute (providing spatial data on nature conservation, for example), the Finnish Transport and Communications Agency (e.g. municipality-level data on vehicles and their motive power) and the Finnish Meteorological Institute (e.g. spatial grids of weather observations and predictions) also share data that can be advantageous for research and development purposes in the forest biomass sector.

4.2 System complexity in spatial BSC analysis

Based on experiences from the papers in this thesis it can be concluded that there are several factors that contribute to system complexity and collectively determine the spatial precision of the supply chain model. These are summarized in Figure 14 in terms of three hierarchical categories, the first of which includes factors related to the purposes of the research and the setting up of the logistics framework, i.e. it is the dominant group of factors affecting the settings in which the other categories operate. The second category includes factors that increase the complexity of the supply chain network, and the third category represents the spatial datasets used in the GIS model. For most factors a growing number of discrete elements or parameters can be shown to increase the complexity of the whole system. Thus, multiple objectives can be chosen to fulfil particular purposes, for example, or several constraints based on natural conditions or technical properties can be applied in order to gain reliable estimates of harvesting potentials.

4.2.1 Setup of the study

In general terms, increasing the number of objectives in a mathematical problem-solving exercise (e.g. optimization) will increase the number of target functions, and thus the complexity of the calculation model. Focusing on one essential problem in logistics, vehicle routing, Jozefowiez et al. (2008) emphasize that the motivation for multi-objective optimization (MOO) arises from the need for reacting to more real-life situations than can be done using an academic model with a single objective. In addition to minimizing the total distance travelled (e.g. in Papers II and III), there can be several parallel objectives, including but not limited to the minimizing of vehicle travel times or idle times, the minimizing of logistic risks, the maximizing of freight loads, or the maximizing of the profits for one or more of the stakeholders in the system. As an example from forest biomass logistics, Palander (2015) introduces a non-spatial MOO model of a supply system that includes several biomass power plants and a rail freight company as the logistics operator. The objective is not only to minimize the sum of the various cost components but also to optimize the time consumption of the trains, because time is an important factor for both the power plants concerned (lead times) and the transport operator (wagon rotation). Moreover, many constraints that bring the study closer to real-world circumstances are included, e.g. limitations on vehicle and storage capacities and the regulations governing timber trading between Finland and Russia.



Figure 14. A hierarchical presentation of factors affecting the complexity of GIS-based models of biomass supply chains. # = number of.

In spatial models any increase of the objectives of the research will usually result in the acquisition or production of more GIS data. In cases where the performance of the transportation provided is assessed in terms of time, the transport network dataset in vector format should not only include the distances as cost attributes but also travel-time estimates for the line segments. These can certainly be added to the model simply by means of a conversion based on universal driving speeds, but a more advanced dataset is recommended when the purpose is to come closer to real-life transport conditions. Sosa et al. (2015), for example, used the road type attributes quoted in the national road network data to support their estimates of travel times and the costs of biomass transportation in Ireland. Svenson and Field (2017) examined even more factors predictive of speed, such as the road surface and its curvature and vehicle weight. A classification by types of road was also applied in the road network assessment in Paper III, where the objective was to analyse the GHG emissions of the transport used in an LCA framework, including functions for three road type categories. Furthermore, there can be even more targets in the analysis, although these will increase the potential workload caused by data acquisition and processing. Woo et al. (2018) included objectives of three kinds (economic, environmental and social) in their GIS-based assessment of bioenergy facilities and reported that they had collected spatial data from numerous private and institutional sources.

While constraints in general are important for solving an optimization problem, they can also be spatial constraints in a GIS analysis, as is the case with regionally specific factors that limit the supply potential, such as the rough market share estimates quoted in Paper II. Geographical variations in these constraints can also be modelled with the same spatial resolution as the biomass dataset. Verkerk et al. (2011), for example, filtered the theoretical forest biomass potentials of Europe to more realizable levels of harvest potential in a raster analysis that accounted for several spatial datasets (e.g. site productivity, soil bearing capacity, slopes and nature protection areas). The constraints can even be spatio-temporal, such as those limiting access to forest stands at different seasons in Paper V.

4.2.2 BSC system design

Temporal factors such as supply and demand fluctuations and the seasonal nature of the feedstock are important considerations in biomass logistics for energy production and should thus be taken into account at least in studies supporting tactical and operational planning. A similar conclusion was reached by Kogler and Rauch (2018), who highlighted DES as an appropriate method for wood supply chain research on these levels. Among the factors identified as generating complexity in GIS-based models (Figure 14) these are arguably the most decisive for the design of the supply chain system. Consequently, a spatio-temporal model usually includes a modest number of nodes in the network structure, or the model boundaries are limited to a subsystem only. In the data resulting from Paper I only two out of nine case studies accounting for biomass property changes during the supply chain featured a multi-stage (or multi-echelon) system. The same implication is also supported by Kogler and Rauch (2018), who did not find any spatial or non-spatial DES studies with an operational-level approach that included multimodal properties and a detailed system abstraction at the same time. The spatio-temporal investigation in Paper IV resulted in a large number of routing problems with a relatively low number of transhipment points in the system as compared with the potential locations along highways in real life. A pre-selective analysis of traffic flows in the area concerned was required in order to restrict the number of system nodes and, accordingly, to indicate the potential locations that ought to be included.

It is significant that the computational demand of the ABS method used here is higher than of DES (Majid et al. 2016), which argues for higher abstraction in the supply-chain network when a vast number of agents are used. In addition to a simulation approach, time-based elements can be included in optimization models where the temporal abstraction level is indicated by the number of time periods or their length in real life. Gunnarson et al. (2004), for example, used 12 time periods (each representing a month) to take into account the varying fuel demands of heating plants in the course of a year. Van Dyken et al. (2010) also included 12 periods in their model, but as the focus was on operational planning of supplies, the overall time horizon was only 12 weeks (with each week represented by one time period). By contrast, Palander (2015) split a one-year planning horizon into as many as 26 time periods (each representing 2 weeks) and modelled a supply chain network that excluded truck transportation, despite the fact that this was included in the system in real life. The approach was reasonable, however, because the focus was on the performance of trains. Furthermore, the inclusion of truck transportation would have resulted in increased network complexity and, obviously, a need for spatial biomass data for the Russian territory.

4.2.3 Points of origin and spatial biomass data

The case studies presented in Papers II-IV were all based on a systematic spatial grid of biomass origins, but the designs of the GIS models varied significantly because of the different approaches and objectives. The case study in Paper II, for example, used the densest network of origins (a 2 km grid) covering a relatively large area (Table 1), but in other parts the static optimization model was fairly plain. Thus the railway transport option included only one route instead of a network of multiple origins and destinations. Paper III included more railway lines, but they were added to the LCA framework as individual objects with no connection to the road network, and moreover, the approach used fixed scenarios of rail transport volume instead of optimized transport mode determinations. The lower origin density (4 km grid) did not result from the design of a multi-modal transport network but rather from the complex problem of routing the chipper truck, which apparently represented a more important contributor to the GHG emissions than to the economic performance of the system. In Paper IV the number of origins was relatively low, but the inclusion of several feedstock destinations, intermediate terminals and, on particular, a parallel HCT transport network increased the complexity substantially. One notable shortcoming in this case was that the relatively small area involved (Table 1), representing only ca. 4% of Finnish territory, did not enable very much longer transport routes, where HCT trucks would have been the most competitive alternative. It was also suggested that extending the area would have resulted in a greater number of supply points and accordingly an exponential increase in alternative origin-destination pairs with a supply point network of the same spatial precision. This fundamentally computational challenge could have been tackled with a sparser network, but on the other hand, much higher spatial abstraction would have led to difficulties in the validation of the model, and obviously less precise results regarding the usability of the various means of transportation.

Solutions other than a systematic vector-point network seem to be dominant in the earlier GIS-based biomass supply analyses performed in Finland. Ranta (2002) for example, used Voronoi polygons for aggregating roadside storage data in their centroids, and proceeded with the transportation analysis by using a commercial dataset as the road network data source. Nivala et al. (2016) employed unprotected forest land patterns from land cover datasets as biomass origins and preferred a high abstraction level for transportation by using

Euclidean distances instead of road network distances. Laitila et al. (2010b), used road network-based data to estimate transport costs, but instead of more detailed spatial precision, they allocated equal transport cost estimates to all the forest stands within the same municipality. In contrast to vector-based transport network analysis, Vainio et al. (2009) introduced a GIS model in which both the harvesting and transport cost analyses were based on raster datasets having a spatial resolution of 10 m.

The use of a systematic network of biomass origins has clearly become more popular during the last decade as more forest biomass datasets (e.g. MS-NFI and FFC) have been published in grid format. The grid system is beneficial when forest data are to be analysed together with other grid-based datasets (e.g. weather or population data), as long as the spatial resolution of the layers and the coordinate systems are consistent. Furthermore, Anttila et al. (2018) reported that both the computing and the visual map-based presentation of the results improved when the model presented by Nivala et al. (2016) was converted to a $1 \text{ km} \times 1 \text{ km}$ grid-based system. Natarajan et al. (2012) used a $0.1^{\circ} \times 0.1^{\circ}$ grid (equal to ca. 5 km \times 11 km) in a multimodal GIS-based optimization model covering Eastern Finland, and the method was later extended to the whole of mainland Finland with a 10 km \times 10 km grid of biomass origins (Natarajan et al. 2014). This may be assumed to be the coarsest resolution used for a systematic point grid in a GIS-based analysis of forest biomass supply in Finland. The choice of this resolution was undoubtedly determined by the research framework (biodiesel production calls for large feedstock volumes, and thus increases in the area studied), changes in the objectives and methods of the research (minimization of total supply costs and supply chain emissions with mixed-integer linear programming) and a complex supply chain network (including roads and railways for feedstock collection and biodiesel distribution, and a large number of connecting nodes).

4.3 The role and significance of GIS in bioenergy research

In addition to the availability of spatial data, one considerable motive for the adoption of GIS in bioenergy research is the sheer extent of business taking place in the real world. We are speaking of high supply volumes and thus large amounts of capital that are bound up in biomass before its conversion to merchandise at various mills and plants. Based on the findings in Paper IV, even marginal savings (of a few percent) in supply costs can already be worth millions of euros. In a globally competitive business such as pulp and paper production (Karikallio et al. 2011) even such a marginal improvement in a BSC system can be considered a serious competitive advantage. It is not evident that a spatial system approach would always be more credible than a non-spatial one or a much more abstract one, but still it is reasonable to ask whether any latent potential for business improvement can be found if spatial properties are left outside the design of the system? In pursuance of this question, the maturity of the business sector is an evident contributor to the interest in supply chains and the significance of GIS and spatial data. Sawnwood and pulp and paper production are old industries in this context, as also is biomass-based CHP production in Finland. By contrast, the large-scale manufacture of advanced products from biomass, i.e. biorefining, is a relatively new concept (FitzPatrick et al. 2010; De Bhomwick et al. 2018), and the developing markets for various bio-based end products are based on global targets for reducing the global dependence on fossil resources. Obviously the primary focus of research should be on the technological and economic prospects of different conversion technologies and the system outside the industrial process should be of secondary importance. It is only thereafter that

research should begin to take on a more case-specific character, extending the scope to supply chains that can be examined with a GIS approach. The research and development in the field of wood-based diesel production in Finland is a good example of such evolution: 1) the suitability of the Fischer-Tropsch process integrated into the Finnish forest industries was first investigated from a technological angle (Rantanen et al. 2005; Gust 2009; Mponzi 2011), 2) the impacts of commercial production on the economy and the environment were assessed at the national level (Heinimö et al. 2011, Forsström et al. 2012, Soimakallio 2014), and 3) the BSC systems involved were studied more closely using GIS methods (Paper III, Natarajan et al. 2014). Nowadays the "Power-to-X" (P2X) concept covering various energy conversion technologies is in focus as a promising innovation on the path towards a low-carbon world, and biomass is seen as an important energy source for balancing energy systems (Wang et al. 2020). In Finland, P2X is expected in particular to decarbonize energy-intensive industries in a low-carbon scenario (Afry 2020) where the proportion of wood fuels used in district heating and power production is at the same time predicted to increase significantly at the national level. No GIS-based case studies on this topic are yet to be found in the literature, but their time will most probably come soon as a consequence of advancements in non-spatial research. Wang et al. (2020) have also detected this research gap in a global context and have emphasized that geographical case studies are needed for identifying the potential future business opportunities for system-balancing plants using biomass as a fuel.

Hence we can argue that, as far as biomass-based innovations (e.g. new products or technologies) are concerned, spatial BSC case studies usually become relevant with a small delay, while the role of spatial data and GIS methods is much more important when new concepts are introduced within existing BSC systems. Such cases include, for example, new feedstock types (Laitila et al. 2016a; Laasasenaho 2019) or changes in vehicles (Laitila et al. 2016b; Paper IV), processing methods (Laitila et al. 2015; Agar et al. 2020), BSC network design (Kanzian et al. 2009; Cavalli et al. 2012; Athanassiadis and Nordfjell 2017; Berg and Athanassiadis 2019), or decision-making strategies (Windisch et al. 2015; Eriksson et al. 2017; Laurén et al. 2018).

According to Väätäinen et al. (2021), high volumes and long transport distances between biomass origins and destinations, together with similar policies and practices in the management and use of forests, are good reasons to examine biomass logistics in Finland and Sweden independently of research taking place elsewhere in the world. On account of their northern location, these countries face challenges of their own in balancing the seasonality of biomass supply and demand, and a strong linkage between timber supplies based on the cut-to-length-method and the use of forest biomass for energy production purposes. Besides the spatial approach motivated by the large volumes and long distances, the above-mentioned factors argue for temporal research methods, especially at the tactical and operational levels. Therefore a simulation approach has frequently been used in Finnish and Swedish case studies (Kogler and Rauch 2018), and circumstances accounting for the interconnections between timber and forest fuel supply systems have been widely studied as well (see Asikainen 2004; Palander and Vesa 2009; Lindholm 2010; Kärhä 2011; Routa et al. 2013; Karttunen and Laitila 2015; Ovaskainen 2017; Kons 2019; Palander and Takkinen 2021).

Despite the complex characteristics of many BSC systems that include both timber and forest fuel assortments, the feasible options of preserving or upgrading forest biomass properties within individual supply chains are fairly straightforward and constrained. Fresh roundwood is supplied to the mill yards directly or via transhipment terminals soon after harvesting, and forest fuels are stored for drying purposes and comminuted at some stage in the supply chain, primarily in order to meet the particle size criteria and secondarily to optimize the bulk density of the remaining transport stages in the supply chain. From the value-added point of view, the principal location of biomass processing is a large-scale industrial facility that represents the final stage of the BSC. The configuration may change in the future, however, if industrial processing is brought closer to the biomass origins. Such a setting has been proposed by Agar et al. (2020), for example, who used GIS to examine the impacts of wood torrefaction to pellets in a network of biomass terminals. In addition, network systems of this kind could be studied with a temporal supply-demand balance approach, employing dynamic optimization or simulation, because the utilization rates of the torrefaction units are obviously key factors determining the overall profitability of the system. This is one more example of how BSC systems are developing towards more complex frameworks for both researchers and decision makers, and also highlights the demand for illustrative and, if possible, geographically specified case studies. In the broader context of transportation, Loidl et al. (2020) have reported that, due to the increasing availability of high-precision spatial data and the development of interactive visualization concepts in geography, geo-visualization of traffic would be an important method for strengthening the field of transport research. Despite the challenges of balancing between spatial abstraction, the extent of the system and computing capacity for geo-visualization that faced the authors of Paper IV, it is highly recommended that BSC researchers should increasingly make use of this approach and concurrently develop more efficient techniques for data management in computer-intensive GIS models.

4.4 Conclusions

In the light of the studies referred to above and of Papers II-V of this thesis it can be concluded that a sufficient distance between points of origin for forest biomass in GIS-based supply chain models in Finland would range approximately from 1 km to 10 km. Figure 15 summarizes the spatial properties and the most critical complexity issues of these studies, as well as how the chosen precision determines the number of origins, when the study area is set up to cover the entire Finland. When detailed transport-network data are used, 10 km precision is more suitable for national-level analyses and for more complex system design purposes, while 1 km precision suits well for local or regional levels and simpler design tasks. A greater density of origins is not necessary if the purpose is to procure feedstock for a typical biomass energy plant in Finland. It must be noticed, however, that doubling the precision leads to approximately quadrupling the GIS computational requirements (i.e. for transport route calculation) given the same area. Conversely, it could be more advantageous to halve the precision in order to achieve computational benefits in certain cases. For example, the online tool for assessing the availability of numerous biomass types in Finland, Biomass Atlas, is currently based on a grid with 1 km resolution (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021g). Despite its usefulness for spatial analyses in general, the tool can calculate road transport distances only up to 65 km. Without significantly increasing the computational requirements, a grid resolution of 2 km would obviously extend the maximum distance by road to over 100 km, which is closer to the maximum biomass procurement distances of many larger forest biomass plants in Finland.



Figure 15. The spatial extent and precision of the case studies in Papers II-V and selected GIS studies in Finland based on a systematic grid of forest-biomass origins. Only the largest supply areas of Papers II and III are presented. *) The number of origins was approximated from the maps of the article, because exact number has not been reported.

Within the suggested range, the final precision will be determined by many casedependent factors, as conceptualized in Figure 14. These factors do not have equal impacts on the complexity of the system, however. For example, an increment of one in the comminution methods results in additional calculations in the model, but it does not change the structure of the system as the addition of one destination or intermediate terminal does. In GIS-based research such structural change means recalculation of the transport routes, which is time-consuming if the network is already extensive. Another significant impact is the inclusion of time. In this context there is a significant contrast between a static calculation model producing results on an annual basis and a discrete time simulation (e.g. ABS or DES) model that, subject to the level of abstraction, may contain millions of calculation steps in a simulation run. Temporal aspects can also be taken into account with a higher level of abstraction in the more static approaches, such as optimization or LCA. Harvesting potentials, and consequently the appearance of available roadside storage sites, can be assessed on a monthly basis, as suggested in Paper V (Figure 8), and thereafter the outputs of 12 assessments can be summed up at the annual level.

Possible threats and challenges related to the topic of this thesis include tightening of the sustainability criteria for forest biomass use (European Commission 2021) and the gradual concentration of the population of Finland into the largest urban areas in the extreme south (MDI 2019). Both can be assumed to increase average transport distances in the future, creating more space for BSC research in the following ways, at least.

There will be:

- a need for new multi-modal supply chain models that include both rail and marine transport for long distances and deliveries from abroad
- a need for more temporal GIS-based optimization models that include stochasticity

- Minimization of transport costs and optimization of the use of vehicles throughout the planning horizon will become more important factors in terms of competitiveness.
- Climate change and the increase in extreme weather conditions (Kirkinen et al 2005) will call for more spatially explicit risk assessments with regard to energy, its production and distribution, and feedstock procurement (e.g. access to rural and forest roads during floods and storms).
- a need for new multi-echelon studies, as more buffer terminals close to urban areas will be needed to ensure supplies (given longer distances from forest sites and the increased weather hazards)
 - In the long term, following the projected impacts of low-carbon technologies in energy-intensive industries on the national energy system (Afry 2020), spatio-temporal case studies of the impacts of the altered (lowcarbon) energy system on the operation and profitability of biomass plants will be called for.
- a need for advanced spatial modelling of biomass market dynamics, especially in the regions with the most competition for biomass feedstock
 - "What-if" prospective studies of the starting up of new plants or the conversion of existing ones to new feedstock types will be needed and new regulations concerning biomass production and use will have to be implemented.

In view of the growing availability and improved precision of spatial data (incl. "big data") in Finland and the rapidly expanding computing capacity, there are no technical obstacles to tackling the above topics in BSC research. The widely important biomass logistics designs presented in the case study alternatives described here offer a good starting point for next-level technological and methodological solutions, and accordingly this thesis provides ideas and support for decision-making with respect to current and future biomass logistic systems.

REFERENCES

- Aalto M (2015) Rankapuun ja -hakkeen laadunvaihtelu terminaalivarastoinnissa. Master's thesis. Lappeenranta University of Technology. http://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi-fe201505228792.
- Aalto M, KC R, Korpinen O-J, Karttunen K, Ranta T (2019) Modeling of biomass supply system by combining computational methods–A review article. Appl Energ 243: 145–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.03.201.
- Afry (2020) Finnish Energy Low carbon roadmap. Final report 1 Jun 2020. https://energia.fi/files/5064/Taustaraportti_-
 - _Finnish_Energy_Low_carbon_roadmap.pdf. Accessed 13 Oct 2021
- Agar D, Svanberg M, Lindh I, Athanassiadis D (2020) Surplus forest biomass The cost of utilisation through optimised logistics and fuel upgrading in northern Sweden. J Clean Prod 275: 123151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.123151.
- Alakangas E (2015) Quality guidelines for wood fuels in Finland. VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland. http://www.vtt.fi/inf/julkaisut/muut/2015/VTT-M-04712-15.pdf. Accessed 28 November 2021
- Anttila P, Nivala V, Salminen O, Hurskainen M, Kärki J, Lindroos TJ, Asikainen A (2018) Regional balance of forest chip supply and demand in Finland in 2030. Silva Fenn 52(2), article id 9902. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.9902.
- AnyLogic (2021) Supply chain GIS model. Tutorials. https://anylogic.help/tutorials/gis/model.html. Accessed 14 Sep 2021
- Asikainen A (2004) Integration of work tasks and supply chains in wood harvesting. Int J Forest Eng 15: 11–17. https://doi.org/10.1080/14942119.2004.10702492.
- Athanassiadis D, Nordfjell T (2017) Regional GIS-based evaluation of the potential and supply costs of forest biomass in Sweden. Front Agr Sci Eng 4(4): 493–501. https://doi.org/10.15302/J-FASE-2017179.
- Berg S, Athanassiadis D (2019) Opportunity cost of several methods for determining forest biomass terminal locations in northern Sweden. Int J Forest Eng 31(1): 37–50. https://doi.org/10.1080/14942119.2019.1616424.
- Cambero C, Sowlati T (2014), Assessment and optimization of forest biomass supply chains from economic, social and environmental perspectives A review of literature. Renew Sust Energ Rev 36: 62–73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2014.04.041.
- Cavalli R, Grigolato S, Pellegrini M (2012) Determination of the forest road network influence on the supply chain for firewood production by discrete event simulation. J Agr Eng 42(4): 41–48. https://doi.org/10.4081/jae.2011.4.41.
- De Bhowmick G, Sarmah AK, Sen R (2018) Lignocellulosic biorefinery as a model for sustainable development of biofuels and value added products. Bioresource Technol 247: 1144–1154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.163.
- de la Fuente T, González-García S, Athanassiadis D, Nordfjell T (2017) Fuel consumption and GHG emissions of forest biomass supply chains in Northern Sweden: a comparison analysis between integrated and conventional supply chains. Scand J Forest Res 31(7): 568–581. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2016.1259424.
- de Smith MJ, Goodchild MF, Longley P (2018) Geospatial Analysis: A comprehensive guide to principles, techniques and software tools. 6th Edition. The Winchelsea Press, Edinburgh.
- Eriksson A, Eliasson L, Sikanen L, Hansson P-A, Jirjis R (2017) Evaluation of delivery strategies for forest fuels applying a model for Weather-driven Analysis of Forest Fuel

Systems (WAFFS). Appl Energ 188: 420-430.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.12.018.

- Esri (2021a) Locate analysis inputs. https://pro.arcgis.com/en/proapp/latest/help/analysis/networks/locating-analysis-inputs.htm. Accessed 8 Sep 2021
- Esri (2021b) Aggregate (Spatial Analyst). https://pro.arcgis.com/en/pro-app/latest/toolreference/spatial-analyst/aggregate.htm. Accessed 10 Sep 2021
- Esri (2021c) Esri provides open access to key federal geospatial data. https://www.esri.com/about/newsroom/arcnews/esri-provides-open-access-to-key-federal-geospatial-data/. Accessed 14 Sep 2021
- European Commission (2021) Proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council, Regulation (EU) 2018/1999 of the European Parliament and of the Council and Directive 98/70/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards the promotion of energy from renewable sources, and repealing Council Directive (EU) 2015/652. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52021PC0557. Accessed 21 Sep 2021
- Eurostat (2015) Primary energy production of renewable energy from agriculture and forestry and share to total energy production (ktoe, %), 2010, EU-27. https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics
 - explained/index.php?title=File:Primary_energy_production_of_renewable_energy_from _agriculture_and_forestry_and_share_to_total_energy_production_(ktoe,_%25),_2010, _EU-27_new.png. Accessed 6 Sep 2021
- Finnish Energy (2020) District heating in Finland 2019. https://energia.fi/files/5402/District_Heating_in_Finland_2019.pdf. Accessed 6 Sep 2021
- Finnish Forest Centre (2021) Paikkatietoaineistot. [in Finnish] https://www.metsakeskus.fi/fi/avoin-metsa-ja-luontotieto/aineistot-paikkatietoohjelmille/paikkatietoaineistot. Accessed 9 Sep 2021
- Finnish Meteorological Institute (2021) From point observations to regionally comprehensive climate grids https://ilmasto-opas.fi/en/ilmastonmuutos/suomenmuuttuva-ilmasto/-/artikkeli/3db6d382-8d68-498d-bad9-40c5aedf42e3/hila-aineistojentuottaminen.html. Accessed 14 Sep 2021
- Finnish Transport Infrastructure Agency (2021a) Digiroad National road and street database. https://vayla.fi/en/transport-network/data/digiroad. Accessed 9 Sep 2021
- Finnish Transport Infrastructure Agency (2021b) Download and viewing service. https://julkinen.vayla.fi/oskari/?lang=en. Accessed 9 Sep 2021
- Fisher PF, Comber AJ, Wadsworth RA (2006) Approaches to uncertainty in spatial data. In: Devillers R, Jeansoulin R (eds) Fundamentals of Spatial Data Quality. London, ISTE, pp 43–56. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470612156.ch3.
- FitzPatrick M, Champagne P, Cunningham MF, Whitney RA (2010) A biorefinery processing perspective: Treatment of lignocellulosic materials for the production of value-added products. Bioresource Technol 101(23): 8915–8922. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.125.
- Forest Act (1093/1996) Metsälaki [in Finnish]. Translation available at: https://www.finlex.fi/en/laki/kaannokset/1996/en19961093.pdf. Accessed 9 Sep 2021
- Forest Data Act (419/2011) Laki Suomen metsäkeskuksen metsätietojärjestelmästä [in Finnish] https://www.finlex.fi/fi/laki/ajantasa/2011/20110419. Accessed 9 Sep 2021

- Forsström J, Pingoud K, Pohjola J, Vilén T, Valsta L, Verkerk H (2012) Wood-based biodiesel in Finland: market-mediated impacts on emissions and costs. VTT Technology 7. http://www.vtt.fi/inf/pdf/technology/2012/T7.pdf. Accessed 5 Oct 2021
- Gunnarsson H, Rönnqvist M, Lundgren JT (2004) Supply chain modelling of forest fuel. European Journal of Operational Research 158(1): 103–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0377-2217(03)00354-0.
- Gust S (2009) 2nd stakeholders plenary meeting 22 Jan 2009. Neste Oil Stora Enso BTL Joint Venture. https://www.etipbioenergy.eu/images/Steven_Gust.pdf. Accessed 5 Oct 2021
- Hakkila P (2005) Metsähakkeen käytön kehittyminen [in Finnish] In: Kuitto P-J (ed) Metsästä polttoaineeksi – Polttohakkeen tuotannon puoli vuosisataa. Suomen bioenergiayhdistys FINBIO, Jyväskylä, pp 60–67.
- Heinimö J, Malinen H, Ranta T, Faaij A (2011) Renewable energy targets, forest resources, and second-generation biofuels in Finland. Biofuel Bioprod Bioref 5: 238–249. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.291.
- Ilvessalo Y (1927) Suomen metsät. Tulokset vuosina 1921-24 suoritetusta valtakunnan metsien arvioimisesta. [in Finnish]. MTJ 11. Valtioneuvoston kirjapaino, Helsinki.
- Jozefowiez N, Semet F, Talbi EG (2008) From single-objective to multi-objective vehicle routing problems: motivations, case studies, and methods. In: Golden B, Raghavan S, Wasil E (eds) The Vehicle Routing Problem: Latest Advances and New Challenges. Operations Research/Computer Science Interfaces, vol 43. Springer, Boston, Massachusetts, pp 445–471. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-77778-8_20.
- Jäppinen E, Korpinen O-J, Ranta T (2011) Effects of local biomass availability and road network properties on the greenhouse gas emissions of biomass supply chain. ISRN Renew Energy 2011, article id 189734. https://doi.org/10.5402/2011/189734.
- Jäppinen E, Korpinen O-J, Laitila J, Ranta T (2014) Greenhouse gas emissions of forest bioenergy supply and utilization in Finland. Renew Sust Energ Rev 29: 369–382. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.08.101.
- Kampman B, Bergsma G, Schepers B, Croezen H, Fritsche UR, Henneberg K, Huenecke K, Molenaar JW, Kessler JJ, Slingerland S, van der Linde C (2010) BUBE: Better use of biomass for energy. CE Delft, Öko-Institut. Delft, The Netherlands. https://cedelft.eu/wp-content/uploads/sites/2/2021/04/3844_eindrapBKA.pdf Accessed 6 Sep 2021
- Kanzian C, Holzleitner F, Stampfer K, Ashton S (2009) Regional energy wood logistics optimizing local fuel supply. Silva Fenn 43(1): 113–128. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.464.
- Karikallio H, Mäki-Fränti P, Suhonen N (2011) Competition in the global pulp and paper industries – An evaluation based on three approaches. J Forest Econ 17(1): 91–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2010.09.004.
- Karttunen K, Laitila J (2015) Forest management regime options for integrated smalldiameter wood harvesting and supply chain from young Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris L.*) stands. Int J Forest Eng 26(2): 124–138. https://doi.org/10.1080/14942119.2015.1083749.
- Kirkinen J, Martikainen A, Holttinen H, Savolainen I, Auvinen O, Syri S (2005) Impacts on the energy sector and adaptation of the electricity network business under a changing climate in Finland. FINADAPT Working Paper 10, Finnish Environment Institute Mimeographs 340. Helsinki. http://hdl.handle.net/10138/41052.
- Kjellberg L (2020) Kilpailu metsähakkeesta kiristyy [in Finnish]. Metsälehti 3/2020, p 8.

- Kogler C, Rauch P (2018) Discrete event simulation of multimodal and unimodal transportation in the wood supply chain: a literature review. Silva Fenn 52(4): article id 9984. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.9984.
- Kons K (2019) Management of forest biomass terminals. Doctoral thesis. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Umeå. http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:slu:epsilon-p-101450.

Kuitto P-J (2005) Puun energiakäytön kehitystaustaa ja edistämistoimia. [in Finnish] In: Kuitto P-J (ed) Metsästä polttoaineeksi – Polttohakkeen tuotannon puoli vuosisataa. Suomen bioenergiayhdistys FINBIO, Jyväskylä, pp 34–59.

Kärhä K (2011) Integrated harvesting of energy wood and pulpwood in first thinnings using the two-pile cutting method. Biomass Bioenerg 35:3397–3403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.10.029.

- Laasasenaho K (2019) Biomass resource allocation for bioenergy production on cutaway peatlands with geographical information (GI) analyses. Academic Dissertation. Tampere University, Faculty of Natural Sciences. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-03-1389-0.
- Laitila J, Leinonen A, Flyktman M, Virkkunen M, Asikainen A (2010a) Metsähakkeen hankinta- ja toimituslogistiikan haasteet ja kehittämistarpeet. VTT Tiedotteita -Research Notes 2564.

https://www.vttresearch.com/sites/default/files/pdf/tiedotteet/2010/T2564.pdf. Accessed 7 Sep 2021

- Laitila J, Heikkilä J, Anttila P (2010b) Harvesting alternatives, accumulation and procurement cost of small-diameter thinning wood for fuel in Central Finland. Silva Fenn 44(3): article id 143. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.143.
- Laitila J, Ranta T, Asikainen A, Jäppinen E, Korpinen O-J (2015). The cost competitiveness of conifer stumps in the procurement of forest chips for fuel in Southern and Northern Finland. Silva Fenn 49(2): article id 1280. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1280.
- Laitila J, Lehtonen E, Ranta T, Anttila P, Rasi S, Asikainen A (2016a) Procurement costs of cereal straw and forest chips for biorefining in South-East Finland. Silva Fenn 50(5): article id 1689. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1689.
- Laitila J, Asikainen A, Ranta T (2016b) Cost analysis of transporting forest chips and forest industry by-products with large truck-trailers in Finland, Biomass Bioenerg 90: 252– 261. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2016.04.011.
- Laitila J, Ahtikoski A, Repola J, Routa J (2017) Pre-feasibility study of supply systems based on artificial drying of delimbed stem forest chips. Silva Fenn 51(4): article id 5659. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.5659.
- Laurén A, Asikainen A, Kinnunen J-P, Palviainen M, Sikanen L (2018) Improving the financial performance of solid forest fuel supply using a simple moisture and dry matter loss simulation and optimization, Biomass Bioenerg 116: 72–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2018.05.014.
- Li L (2017) Spatial data uncertainty. In: Wilson JP (ed) The Geographic Information Science & Technology Body of Knowledge (4th Quarter 2017 Edition). https://doi.org/10.22224/gistbok/2017.4.4.
- Lindholm E-L (2010) Energy use and environmental impact of roundwood and forest fuel production in Sweden. Doctoral thesis. Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala. http://urn.kb.se/resolve?urn=urn:nbn:se:slu:epsilon-3076.

- Loidl M, Wallentin G, Cyganski R, Graser A, Scholz J, Haslauer E (2016) GIS and transport modeling—Strengthening the spatial perspective. ISPRS Int J Geo-Inf 5(6): 84. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi5060084.
- Majid MA, Fakhreldin M, Zuhairi KZ (2016) Comparing discrete event and agent based simulation in modelling human behaviour at airport check-in counter. In: Kurosu M (ed) Human-computer Interaction. Theory, Design, Development and Practice. HCI 2016. Lecture Notes in Computer Science 9731. Springer, Cham, pp 510–522. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-39510-4_47.
- MDI (2019) C23 regional centres' population projection 2040: half of all provinces have a growing centre. https://www.mdi.fi/en/c23-regional-centres-population-projection-2040-half-provinces-growing-centre/ Accessed 21 Sep 2021
- Minghini M, Cetl V, Kotsev A, Tomas R, Lutz M (2021) INSPIRE: The entry point to Europe's big geospatial data infrastructure. In: Werner M, Chiang YY (eds) Handbook of Big Geospatial Data. Springer, Cham, pp 619–641. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-55462-0_24.
- Ministry of Transport and Communications (2011) Proposal for a government resolution on improving the accessibility and promoting the reuse of public information resources in digital format.

https://www.lvm.fi/documents/20181/782861/Proposal+for+a+government+resolution+ on+improving+the+accessibility+and+promoting+the+reuse+of+public+information+re sources+in+digital+format.pdf. Accessed 15 Sep 2021

- Mponzi P (2011) Production of biofuels by Fischer Tropsch synthesis. Master's Thesis. Lappeenranta University of Technology. http://urn.fi/URN:NBN:fi-fe201109275595.
- Mäkisara K, Katila M, Peräsaari J (2019) The multi-source national forest inventory of Finland - methods and results 2015. Natural resources and bioeconomy studies 8/2019. Natural Resources Institute Finland, Helsinki. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-326-712-1.
- Natarajan K, Leduc S, Pelkonen P, Tomppo E, Dotzauer E (2012) Optimal locations for methanol and CHP production in Eastern Finland. Bioenerg Res 5: 412–423. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12155-011-9152-4.
- Natarajan K, Leduc S, Pelkonen P, Tomppo E, Dotzauer E (2014) Optimal locations for second generation Fischer Tropsch biodiesel production in Finland. Renew Energ 62: 319–330. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2013.07.013.
- National Land Survey of Finland (2017) Kiinteistörekisterikartta avoimeksi dataksi. [in Finnish] https://www.maanmittauslaitos.fi/ajankohtaista/kiinteistorekisterikartta-avoimeksi-dataksi. Accessed 15 Sep 2021
- Natural Resources Institute Finland (2020) Latest information about forest resources has been published. https://www.luke.fi/en/news/latest-information-about-forest-resources-has-been-published/. Accessed 7 Sep 2021
- Natural Resources Institute Finland (2021a) Forest industries' wood consumption by origin and assortment 1860- by year, origin and assortment. [Dataset] http://statdb.luke.fi/PXWeb/pxweb/en/LUKE/LUKE_04%20Metsa_04%20Talous_ 08%20Metsateollisuuden%20puunkaytto/04_metsateol_puunk_tavaralajeittain_1860.px . Accessed 12 Oct 2021
- Natural Resources Institute Finland (2021b) Total energy consumption by energy source. [Dataset]

http://statdb.luke.fi/PXWeb/pxweb/en/LUKE/LUKE_04%20Metsa_08%20Muut_E nergia/09.01_Energian_kokonaiskulutus.px. Accessed 6 Sep 2021

Natural Resources Institute Finland (2021c) Total consumption of forest chips by plant type by forest chips and year. [Dataset] http://statdb.luke.fi/PXWeb/pxweb/en/LUKE/LUKE_04%20Metsa_04%20Talous__

10%20Puun%20energiakaytto/02_Metsahakkeen_kok_kaytto.px. Accessed 6 Sep 2021 Natural Resources Institute Finland (2021d) Solid wood fuel consumption in heating and power plants by region (metsäkeskus). [Dataset] http://statdb.luke.fi/PXWeb/pxweb/en/LUKE/LUKE_04%20Metsa_04%20Talous_ 10%20Puun%20energiakaytto/21_Laitos_ekaytto.px. Accessed 7 Sep 2021

Natural Resources Institute Finland (2021e) Metsävarat. [in Finnish] https://www.luke.fi/tietoa-luonnonvaroista/metsa/metsavarat-jametsasuunnittelu/metsavarat/. Accessed 8 Sep 2021

- Natural Resources Institute Finland (2021f) Luke MS-NFI download service. http://kartta.luke.fi/index-en.html. Accessed 8 Sep 2021
- Natural Resources Institute Finland (2021g) Biomass Atlas Biomass data in one online service. https://www.luke.fi/biomassa-atlas/en/. Accessed 12 Oct 2021
- Natural Resources Institute Finland (2021h) Harvesting volumes of energy wood per month. [Dataset]

https://statdb.luke.fi/PXWeb/pxweb/en/LUKE/LUKE_04%20Metsa_02%20Rakenne %20ja%20tuotanto_06%20Puun%20markkinahakkuut_02%20Kuukausitilastot/02_E nergiapuun_korjuu_kk.px. Accessed 14 Sep 2021

- Nivala M, Anttila P, Laitila J, Salminen O, Flyktman M (2016) A GIS-based methodology to estimate the regional balance of potential and demand of forest chips. J Geogr Inf Sys 8: 633–662. https://doi.org/10.4236/jgis.2016.85052.
- OSM (2021) OpenStreetMap Wiki About OpenStreetMap. https://wiki.openstreetmap.org/wiki/About_OpenStreetMap. Accessed 15 Sep 2021

Ovaskainen H (2017) Integrated roundwood and biomass terminals – 0,1 TWh case. In Hoen HF, Glosli C (eds) Proceedings from joint seminar arranged by MB-NORD and NOFOBE. Lappeenranta, Finland. Scandinavian Forest Economics 47, p 44. https://www.metsateho.fi/wp-content/uploads/Proceedings-2017.pdf. Accessed 7 Oct 2021

Palander T (1995) Local factors and time-variable parameters in tactical planning models: A tool for adaptive timber procurement planning. Scand J Forest Res 10(1–4): 370–382. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827589509382903.

Palander T (2015) Applying dynamic multiple-objective optimization in inter-enterprise collaboration to improve the efficiency of energy wood transportation and storage. Scand J Forest Res 30(4): 346–356. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2014.1001780.

Palander T, Vesa L (2009) Integrated procurement planning for supplying energy plant with forest, fossil, and wood-waste fuels. Biosyst Eng 103(4): 409–416. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2009.05.008.

- Palander T, Takkinen J (2021) The optimum wood procurement scenario and its dynamic management for integrated energy and material production in carbon-neutral forest industry. Energies 14: 4404. https://doi.org/10.3390/en14154404.
- Palander T, Väätäinen J, Laukkanen S, Malinen J (2004) Modelling backhauling on Finnish energy-wood network using minimizing of empty routes. Int J Forest Eng 15(2): 79–84. https://doi.org/10.1080/14942119.2004.10702499.

- Ranta T (2002) Logging residues from regeneration fellings for biofuel production a GISbased availability and supply-cost analysis. Acta Universitatis Lappeenrantaensis 128. Dissertation. Lappeenranta University of Technology. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-214-871-1.
- Rantanen L, Linnaila R, Aakko P, Harju T (2005) NExBTL Biodiesel fuel of the second generation. SAE paper 2005-01-3771, SAE International, Warrendale, Pennsylvania. https://doi.org/10.4271/2005-01-3771.
- Rikala J, Eyvindson K, Petty A, Kivinen V-P, Dahlin B (2015) Optimizing logistics of saw logs for a medium sized sawmill. In: Kanzian C, Erber G, Kühmaier M (eds) Forest engineering: "Making a positive contribution": Abstracts and Proceedings of the 48th Symposium on Forest Mechanization, Linz, Austria 2015. Institute of Forest Engineering, Department of Forest Soil and Sciences, University of Natural Resources and Life Sciences, Vienna, Austria, pp 227–230. https://www.formec.org/images/proceedings/2015/formec_proceedings_2015_web.pdf.

https://www.formec.org/images/proceedings/2015/formec_proceedings_2015_web.pdf. Accessed 12 Oct 2021

Rodrigue J-P (2020) The geography of transport Systems, Fifth edition. Routledge, New York.

- Routa J, Asikainen A, Björheden R, Laitila J, Röser D (2013) Forest energy procurement: state of the art in Finland and Sweden. WIREs Energy Environ 2: 602–613. https://doiorg.ezproxy.cc.lut.fi/10.1002/wene.24.
- Röser D, Mola-Yudego B, Sikanen L, Prinz R, Gritten D, Emer B, Väätäinen K, Erkkilä A (2011) Natural drying treatments during seasonal storage of wood for bioenergy in different European locations. Biomass Bioenerg 35(10): 4238–4247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.07.011.
- Saad N (2003) Modelling, simulation, and analysis of supply chain systems using discreteevent simulation. PhD thesis, University of Sheffield.
- Schweinle J, Rödl A, Börjesson P, Neary DG, Langeveld JWA, Berndes G, Cowie A, Ahlgren S, Margni M, Gaudreault C, Verschuyl J, Wigley TB, Vice K, Titus B (2015) Assessing the environmental performance of biomass supply chains: methods, results, challenges and limitations; summary report. IEA Bioen Task 43:TR01. https://www.ieabioenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/01/IEA-BIOENERGY-TR2015-01i-.pdf. Accessed 8 Sep 2021
- Soimakallio S (2014) Toward a more comprehensive greenhouse gas emissions assessment of biofuels: The case of forest-based Fischer–Tropsch diesel production in Finland. Environ Sci Technol 48(5): 3031–3038. https://doi.org/10.1021/es405792j.
- Sosa A, McDonnell, K, Devlin G (2015) Analysing performance characteristics of biomass haulage in Ireland for bioenergy markets with GPS, GIS and fuel diagnostic tools. Energies 8(10): 12004-12019. https://doi.org/10.3390/en81012004.
- Spiekermann K, Wegener M (2000) Freedom from the tyranny of zones: Towards new GIS-based spatial models. In: Fotheringham S, Wegener M (eds) Spatial Models and GIS: New Potential and New Models. Taylor and Francis, London, pp 45–61.
- Spinelli R, Eliasson L, Han H-S (2020) A critical review of comminution technology and operational logistics of wood chips. Curr Forestry Rep 6: 210–219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-020-00120-9.
- Statistics Finland (2007) The use and sources of energy 1917-2007. https://www.stat.fi/tup/suomi90/maaliskuu_en.html. Accessed 6 Sep 2021

Statistics Finland (2021) Total energy consumption by energy source (all categories), 1970-2020*. [Dataset]

https://pxnet2.stat.fi/PXWeb/pxweb/en/StatFin_StatFin_ene__ehk/statfin_ehk_pxt_12v q.px. Accessed 6 Sep 2021

- Strandström M (2020) Metsähakkeen tuotantoketjut Suomessa vuonna 2019, Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja 6/2020. [in Finnish] https://metsateho.fi/wp-content/uploads/Tuloskalvosarja-2020-06-Metsahakkeen-tuotantoketjut-2019.pdf. Accessed 7 Sep 2021
- Strandström M (2021) Timber harvesting and long-distance transportation of roundwood 2019. Metsäteho result series 9_EN/2021. https://www.metsateho.fi/timber-harvesting-and-long-distance-transportation-of-roundwood-2019/ Accessed 9 Sep 2021
- Svenson G, Fjeld D (2017) The impact of road geometry, surface roughness and truck weight on operating speed of logging trucks. Scand J Forest Res 32(6): 515–527. https://doi.org/10.1080/02827581.2016.1259426.
- Thompson R (2021) Growing by shrinking Consolidating data on the Open Government Portal. Government of Canada. https://open.canada.ca/en/blog/growing-shrinkingconsolidating-data-open-government-portal. Accessed 14 Sep 2021
- USGS (2021) USGS EROS Archive Sentinel-2 Comparison of Sentinel-2 and Landsat https://www.usgs.gov/centers/eros/science/usgs-eros-archive-sentinel-2-comparison-sentinel-2-and-landsat. Accessed 15 Sep 2021
- Vainio P, Tokola A, Palander T, Kangas A (2009) GIS-based stand management system for estimating local energy wood supplies. Biomass Bioenerg 33: 1278–1288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2009.05.021.
- Valonen M, Haltia E, Horne P, Maidell M, Pynnönen S, Sajeva M, Stenman V, Raivio K, littainen V, Greis K, Laitinen K (2019) Finland's model in utilising forest data -Metsään.fi-website's background, implementation and future prospects. PTT Reports 261. Pellervo Economic Research, Helsinki. https://www.ptt.fi/julkaisut-jahankkeet/kaikki-julkaisut/finlands-model-in-utilising-forest-data-metsaan.fi-websitesbackground-implementation-and-future-prospects.html. Accessed 15 Sep 2021
- van Dyken S, Bakken BH, Skjelbred HI (2010) Linear mixed-integer models for biomass supply chains with transport, storage and processing. Energy 35(3): 1338–1350. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2009.11.017.
- Venäläinen P, Poikela A (2016) D3.2.1-4 Scenarios of Energy Wood Transport Fleet and Back-Haulage. Metsätehon tuloskalvosarja 2b/2016. https://metsateho.fi/wpcontent/uploads/Tuloskalvosarja_2016_02b_Scenarios_of_Energy_Wood_Transport_Fl eet_and_Back-Haulage.pdf. Accessed 24 Sep 2021
- Venäläinen P, Nousiainen M (eds) (2021) Yksityistietiedon tietolajit Nykytila, suositukset määritelmiksi ja kehittämistarpeet. [in Finnish] Metsätehon raportti 261. https://www.metsateho.fi/wp-content/uploads/Raportti-261-Yksityistietiedon_tietolajit.pdf. Accessed 28 Sep 2021
- Verkerk PJ, Anttila P, Eggers J, Lindner M, Asikainen A (2011) The realisable potential supply of woody biomass from forests in the European Union. Forest Ecol Manag 261(11): 2007-2015. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.02.027.
- Virkkunen M, Kari M, Hankalin V, Nummelin J (2015) Solid biomass fuel terminal concepts and a cost analysis of a satellite terminal concept. VTT Technology 211. https://www.vttresearch.com/sites/default/files/pdf/technology/2015/T211.pdf. Accessed 12 Oct 2021

- Väätäinen K, Anttila P, Eliasson L, Enström J, Laitila J, Prinz R, Routa J (2021) Roundwood and biomass logistics in Finland and Sweden. Croat J For Eng 42(1): 39-61. https://doi.org/10.5552/crojfe.2021.803.
- Wang L, Zhang Y, Li C, Pérez-Fortes M, Lin TE, Maréchal F, Van Herle J, Yang Y (2020) Triple-mode grid-balancing plants via biomass gasification and reversible solid-oxide cell stack: Concept and thermodynamic performance. Appl Energ 280: 115987. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.115987.
- Werhahn-Mees W, Palosuo T, Garcia-Gonzalo J, Röser D, Lindner M (2011) Sustainability impact assessment of increasing resource use intensity in forest bioenergy production chains. GCB Bioenergy 3: 91–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1757-1707.2010.01068.x.
- Windisch J, Röser D, Mola-Yudego B, Sikanen L, Asikainen A (2013) Business process mapping and discrete-event simulation of two forest biomass supply chains. Biomass Bioenerg 56: 370–381. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.05.022.
- Windisch J, Väätäinen K, Anttila P, Nivala M, Laitila J, Asikainen A, Sikanen L (2015) Discrete-event simulation of an information-based raw material allocation process for increasing the efficiency of an energy wood supply chain. Appl Energ 149: 315–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.03.122.
- Winquist E, Rikkonen P, Pyysiäinen J, Varho V (2019) Is biogas an energy or a sustainability product? - Business opportunities in the Finnish biogas branch. J Clean Prod 233: 1344–1354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.06.181.
- Wolfsmayr U, Rauch P (2014) The primary forest fuel supply chain: A literature review. Biomass Bioenerg 60: 203–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.10.025.
- Woo H, Acuna M, Moroni M, Taskhiri MS, Turner P (2018) Optimizing the Location of Biomass Energy Facilities by Integrating Multi-Criteria Analysis (MCA) and Geographical Information Systems (GIS). Forests 9(10): 585. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9100585.
- Ylitalo E (2007) Puun energiakäyttö 2006. [in Finnish] Forest Statistical Bulletins 867. Finnish Forest Research Institute, Helsinki. http://www.metla.fi/tiedotteet/metsatilastotiedotteet/2007/puupolttoaine2006.htm. Accessed 28 Nov 2021
- Yu Q, Wang Y, Van Le Q, Yang H, Hosseinzadeh-Bandbafha H, Yang Y, Sonne C, Tabatabaei M, Lam SS, Peng W (2021) An Overview on the Conversion of Forest Biomass into Bioenergy. Front Energy Res 9: 684234. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2021.684234.
- Zahraee SM, Shiwakoti N, Stasinopoulos P (2020) Biomass supply chain environmental and socio-economic analysis: 40-Years comprehensive review of methods, decision issues, sustainability challenges, and the way forward. Biomass Bioenerg 142: 105777. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2020.105777.